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Monday, November 16, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.  Continuing on from Friday's proceedings, and I think, Ms. Alexander, are you starting cross-examine -- oh, before you start, are there any preliminary matters?


MR. KEIZER:  Not from Union's perspective.

MR. STEVENS:  No, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  All right.  Ms. Alexander, I think it's your turn.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1, resumed
     Chris Shorts, Previously Affirmed.

     Jason Gillett, Previously Affirmed.

     Mark Isherwood, Previously Affirmed.

     Greg Tetreault, Previously Affirmed.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Alexander:

MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you.  Good morning to the Board and good morning to the panel.  I have some questions in follow-up to Friday's questions, and I'm going to try and be as brief and concise as possible.  To start, we don't need to pull it up on the screens, but I just want to -- in your evidence, in Union's evidence, you refer to the -- to EB-2005-0551 decision, and you just note that it's in the public interest to maintain and enhance the depth of liquidity of the market at Dawn as a means of facilitating competition.

So I'm assuming we don't need to bring it up, because I'm assuming that's pretty uncontroversial.  And I'm just hoping to clarify whether your evidence is that NEXUS will lead to lower prices and increase liquidity at Dawn; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, one of the key factors with the NEXUS project, it will bring more suppliers, different suppliers than are currently there in more supply, so that will enhance liquidity and should have a positive impact on pricing.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  And without approval of the long-term transportation costs that you will not proceed with NEXUS.  I understand that's also your position?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was our discussion on Friday.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Why is that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because the cost consequence of a $715 million liability is a cost consequence.  We don't think our shareholders should bear that risk.  The purpose of the pre-approval guidelines is to give comfort to the applicant in terms of those costs being recoverable.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Great.  So primarily it's due to the financial risk --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's entirely due to the financial risk.


MS. ALEXANDER:  Perfect.  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think I mentioned on Friday that we don't actually have a markup on commodity.  When we buy gas and resell it to end users, it's just at a cost of -- pass-through of cost, so there's no markup on it, so the shareholder really can't take any risk on having costs disallowed.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And because the term of this project is 15 years, it entails a higher risk, essentially.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think there are two things, really.  Certainly the time frame is part of it.  The other part of it is, is how significant this volume is.  It's a third of our total capacity.  So it's a very large decision, and we thought it was appropriate to bring that before the Board and other stakeholders to have this discussion on Friday and today and to ask for the pre-approval.  It is significant.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I would like to talk a little bit about the Rover project, and -- because I understand from Friday's conversation that if NEXUS and Rover are both built that the full amount of gas transported on both pipelines will still be used; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The capacity between those two is approximately 1.6 a day, and our expectation is something less than that, but a significant amount of gas will still show up on average each day if both NEXUS and Rover go forward.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I just want to clarify your question.  I think the two pipelines combined bring more gas to Michigan and Ontario, but the 1.6 that Mr. Shorts refers to is what we think will come to Dawn.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  From a contractual point of view.  And as Mr. Shorts said, what flows in any given day may be less than 1.6, but 1.6 is contracted.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And is there any risk of underutilization with both of those pipelines flowing?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It doesn't impact our economics at all.  Our rate is fixed.  So if those pipelines are not utilized 100 percent there is no risk to us at all.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  And Rover follows a similar path line to NEXUS, I understand from the evidence, but the difference is that it's all brand-new pipeline and new infrastructure that's bringing gas to Dawn, and that it's supported solely by suppliers; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  When it was first introduced it was going to be completely new infrastructure all the way to Dawn, but since that time they actually negotiated a deal with Vector, so it will be using Vector capacity as well, but it also is significant infrastructure even on the greenfield part, much more so than even what NEXUS is, so still even with them using Vector capacity, the amount of infrastructure that Rover is going to be building is still greater than what the NEXUS project is.

MS. ALEXANDER:  I understand.  And do you know in terms of numbers what that breaks down to?  How much more greenfield is --


MR. SHORTS:  I believe their capital cost is close to double that of NEXUS on a forecasted basis.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  And then are there any other proposed pipelines bringing gas to Dawn?  I understand there's ANR.  Is that a new build as well?

MR. SHORTS:  The ANR project that we mentioned in the evidence is really just a repurposing of some existing capacity in past on the U.S. side.  It wasn't really any new infrastructure bringing new capacity to Dawn, and it was 2- or 300 a day.  It was fairly small volume that would be able to make its way to Dawn.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  And as far as we know right now, it's not going forward.  There hasn't been any progress on that project as far as we know.

MS. ALEXANDER:  But I understand from your evidence on Friday that Rover is fully sold and it's fine to go ahead.

MR. SHORTS:  Rover is fully committed by suppliers and their plan is to go forward.  As Mr. Isherwood mentioned on Friday, there has been some information that they may be delayed a number of months, but that's all we know at this point in time.  It's still going forward supported by all producers who are different producers than are supporting the NEXUS project.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  And just going back to the discussion that you had with Mr. Millar on Friday, he took you through some evidence that reiterated that the intention of pre-approval is to support the development of new natural-gas infrastructure such as access to new supply sources and frontier production, correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I actually drew a distinction on Friday with Mr. Millar, because in the documents that were filed as part of the compendium there was a kind of a letter setting up the process around developing the guidelines, and then the actual document that was the Board decision on the guidelines, and when you read the narrative in either of those two you'll see the word "frontier gas", but when you actually read the guidelines themselves and the Board's decision on the guidelines, it's not about frontier gas, it's about significant new infrastructure to get new supply.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right.  New infrastructure to get new supply sources.  Right.  That's fine.  So I guess the problem that I'm wanting -- or the question that I wanted to get to is that if Rover goes ahead then NEXUS won't be supplying a new supply source, essentially, and perhaps more economical source in terms of liquidity, but not a new supply source.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Rover and NEXUS are being developed in parallel, so the best case is they both get built and in-service November 1, '17, so I'd say it's a tie, but I think Rover actually has announced that they have been delayed six months or a year type thing.

But I would say this, in that what we have assurance on or some certainty on is if Enbridge and Union get pre-approval it's a confirmation of the NEXUS project in terms of the supply going into the pipeline, the contracts being contracted.  So I think it gives more assurance to the market, it gives more assurance to NEXUS, and NEXUS will get built.

If Union and Enbridge don't get pre-approval and we don't contract on NEXUS, I think it does put NEXUS at risk.  I mentioned that on Friday.  And I think the same risk of being producer only project on NEXUS would apply to Rover as well.

So we don't know with 100 percent assurance that Rover is going ahead.  They're doing the best to go down through the business development process, and so is NEXUS.  I think NEXUS gets more assurance with having Union and Enbridge a part of it.

MS. ALEXANDER:  But strictly speaking, if you just are looking at the Board guidelines, it's not a new supply source, essentially --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is a new supply source.  So I mentioned on Friday Marcellus is now at the same size of Alberta at its peak and it's growing to twice that in the next 15, 20 years.  At the same time Utica, which is really the source of gas -- primary source of gas for the NEXUS pipeline, when we went into the open season in 2012 there was no gas flowing.  There is a graph in Sussex evidence, I think on page 30 or thereabouts.  It actually shows a little sliver of a line on a bar chart in terms of flowing gas out of Utica, so at the same time we were bidding in the open season Utica was just barely off the ground and was near zero in terms of production.

So unfortunately it takes some time to go from an open-season bid to a fully developed project.  It takes from 2012 to 2017.  But when we started the process it was barely starting.  So I would say Utica is brand new, and Marcellus is a significant enough resource that Ontario wants to be connected to it.  All of our competing states that we compete with, in terms of industrial development -- New York, Pennsylvania, Michigan -- they're all getting access to Marcellus gas.  We want access as well, and we want access to Utica, which is brand new.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  But just to go -- I'm having trouble understanding the Board guidelines that are specifying new infrastructure for a new supply source.  And if Rover is built, they're tapping into that supply source; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If it's built, that's correct.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And although I understand that Rover and NEXUS seem to be happening at the same time, you're asking for pre-approval of the long-term transportation costs for a project that, if Rover goes ahead, we will have that supply, correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  A lot of assumptions on the ifs.  My point is with Union Gas and Enbridge involved with the NEXUS project, it puts Ontario in a bit more control, if you want, in terms of it’s a vote of confidence for the project and more than likely, NEXUS will go ahead.

We can’t influence Rover.  Rover will happen or not happen based on market conditions.  But we can influence; we can influence what happens on NEXUS.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you for that.  If we can pull up Exhibit B.T1.Union.Staff.2, your IR to Staff number 2?  In both Staff IR and CME IRs, you were asked to respond in respect to pre-approvals the Board had already issued, and whether or not there are any.

And I understand from your response that as of yet, there has not been any pre-approval that was deemed appropriate for any long-term transportation contract or long-term supply contract; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we applied two earlier occasions, and this would be our third try getting pre-approval.



MS. ALEXANDER:  I think it's on the third page of this IR you’ve included a chart that sets out your understanding of how the NEXUS application differs from previous applications.  Is that a good way to read the chart?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And on the last row, Union references the quote-unquote magnitude of cost commitment, and states that it's significantly larger commitment in NEXUS than prior years.

And I just want to understand that reference, and it's tied back to my earlier question.  Is it Union's position that again because the commitment for NEXUS is large and long-term, that it's more appropriate for pre-approval than previous applications?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it was helpful in Mr. Millar's compendium to include the decision on the Niagara contracts; it gives the detail.  Some of the concerns the Board had was the Niagara commitment for Union Gas was 21,000 GJs, in round numbers, and it wasn't a significant part of our portfolio, whereas the NEXUS commitment is 15,800 GJs per day and represents about a third of our portfolio.

So we are talking about accessing a new supply that gives us more and diversity and more security of supply.  When you commit a third of your portfolio to it, it makes a difference.  The Niagara supply, I think, is 3 or 4 percent; you know, 21,000 is a very small portion of our total portfolio.  NEXUS is a third, so you see a change in security of supply, you do see a change in diversity of supply.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So again, it's a great financial risk?


MR. ISHERWOODD:  The financial risk is the one concern that we have.  That's why we’ve applied for pre-approval.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  I just want to explore, in my last set of questions, that aspect of financial risk because you’ve set out your risk assessment as requested in Board guidelines for the project, and it's at Exhibit A, pages 46 to 52 of your evidence.

MR. ISHERWOODD:  I have it.

MS. ALEXANDER:  In this section of your evidence, you're setting out both what you understand the risk to be and how the project intends to mitigate those risks.  It's clear you've outlined many aspects of mitigation that has been implemented in the project to try to control that financial risk.

What's not clear to me on occasion in evidence is by whom those risks are going to be held, should pre-approval be granted.  So I would like to explore that just a little bit.

So, for example, the aspect we're looking at here is project capital cost and I think, very simply -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- this is the risk that if there’s cost overruns, it could result in tolls that are uneconomical for the shipper.  Is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say not uneconomical; a change of economics for sure.

But when we did all our evidence, we assumed that if the worst case happened and the plus 15 percent capital cost occurred, it’s still economic.

And just, I guess, to put it in perspective, I look at this risk mitigation page 46 to 54 is really the risks the ratepayer had.  It's not really dealing with the shareholder risk of prudency review of overall cost of the capacity.

This is a view of what is the risk from the ratepayer and how we’ve mitigated that risk.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay, that's helpful, because it's not clear to me on reading it that each of these in this section are meant to demonstrate ratepayer risk.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is around ratepayer risk.  Project delay or higher tolling, that type of thing is all the ratepayer point of view.

I would say this is all about the ratepayer primarily and I think we've done a great job through the precedent agreement to mitigate and manage the risk as best as we possibly could.

What this hearing is about is really about the other risk, which is the shareholder risk.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  Would you not also agree this hearing is about the extent to which there is ratepayer risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  From the point of view have we done a good job mitigating the risk?  For sure, I would agree with that.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  But if you've taken steps to mitigate the risk, or to look at ways that risk can be mitigated, clearly there are risks that if pre-approval is granted will fall not on the shareholder, but on the ratepayer?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right, and this section deals with each of the ones that we could identify, and how we mitigate it to the best of our ability.  It's not zero, but we’ve mitigated the best we could.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Great.  So very briefly, I would like to walk through this then what these risks are, just so it's clear.

So the variance in capital costs, is that a possibility that if there are overruns, that it could be uneconomical for the ratepayer?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not uneconomical.  Based on our analysis, our landed cost analysis, it changes the economics, but it doesn't make it uneconomical.

MS. ALEXANDER:  But it could?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It could not.  Based on the assumptions in how we modelled it, we used ICF data which is our base case for all landed cost analysis, and did a range of minus 15 percent, i.e. it’s cheaper.  The base case is as expected, and the worst case is plus 15 percent capital only on the greenfield part of the pipeline.  But in all three cases, it stays – it remains economical.

MS. ALEXANDER:  But you've listed as a risk the capital cost of the project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And that it could increase by 15 percent from the base case.  We also identified it could be 15 percent lower.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay, thank you.  And you've identified that a potential risk is delays or cancellation of the project, and I know you also have included that you've mitigated those.  But I want to set out what are the risks, very simply.

And you've indicated also that there are demand risks.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And with both the demand risk and the risk of delays or cancellation of the project, are those greater than they would be if the term was shorter?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Always.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And lastly, because I don't need to go through all of them, you’ve indicated there are supply risks with the project.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I can just maybe finish on demand risk, because I think what we’re talking about here, we talk about interrogatories.  The NEXUS supply is about one- third of our total supply.  So if demand does change, we have a lot of flexibility in the remaining two-thirds.  So everything is very manageable in terms of that particular risk.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  So lastly, just to return to supply risk, you identify that there are supply risks for the ratepayer?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't believe there is a supply risk because of the access we have at Kensington.  Supply is a risk that comes to mind when you look at new projects, but when we evaluated it, given the growth in the NEXUS -- sorry, in the Marcellus Utica basin, we don't view there to be supply risk.  It's a growing -- it's going to be doubling -- at the same time we're taking this capacity next 15 years, at base it's double in capacity of supply.

MS. ALEXANDER:  I guess I'm getting at, is that if you've listed that there are, you know, that there has been risk mitigation that has been done, then you're identifying that a risk does exist.  Like, I...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the guidelines, though, point out the topics we need to cover off and identify if a risk exists and if you mitigated it or if it doesn't exist.  So supply risk is one of the guidelines -- guideline risk that we need to address.

If we didn't have a section called supply risk we would be deficient in terms of addressing the guidelines.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  So maybe I'll leave it at that.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Ms. Alexander.

Mr. Quinn, are you next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Madam Chair, Members Long and Duff, and good morning, witness panel.  I'm Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.  I hope this morning we can move through efficiently as I'm going to walk through as Mr. Isherwood just alluded to what the guidelines set out in terms of requirements for evaluating the pre-approval of cost consequences, and hopefully this will be helpful to the record.

I will look at the needs, cost benefits, cost-effectiveness, and the affiliate relationships under those aspects of the guideline.

Where I want to start, and I guess I'm going to try to pick up on where Ms. Alexander left off, because I know we had a bit of a challenge here on Friday with Mr. Millar in terms of getting on the same vernacular in terms of financial risk.

So Mr. Isherwood, you discussed, you know, the regulatory background, the elements of risk with Mr. Millar, and he covered off some aspects of the guideline extremely well, but I thought it would be helpful to look at the genesis of the guidelines to understand what the Board was intending in creating the guidelines.

And so if you could turn up in my compendium the excerpts from the Natural Gas Regulation Ontario renewed policy framework that was issued March 2005.  Starting on page 2 is the section on long-term supply and transportation contracts.  You're familiar with this document, I would take it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's a fairly -- fairly old historic documents, but I am familiar with it.

MR. QUINN:  You would agree with me that this was the genesis, though, of --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.

MR. QUINN:  -- the long-term guidelines.  Thank you.  And it covers off some perspective that I left in the foregoing pages to make sure I was complete, but if we focus on page 4 we get to the Board's conclusions in the matter.  And specifically the last full paragraph that talks about long-term contracting -- thank you.  I see it's pulled up on the screen.  And I want to focus for a moment -- well, I'll read the initial part.
"The Board agrees that to some extent utility upstream transportation contracts provide benefits to all customers, may reduce barriers for competitive suppliers who want to enter the market and reduce gas price volatility.  The trade-off is the potential risk involved, and the Board believes that utilities need a diversified portfolio to reduce that risk."

So starting there, what is Union's view of what the Board was referring to in terms of identifying that risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You're referring to the second sentence there, "the trade-off is a potential risk involved"?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I think the Board recognizes the value of having a diversified portfolio.  In fact, that is part of the reasoning behind the guidelines, is to have diversity, as well as security of supply.

MR. QUINN:  So that's the means to the end, is diversified portfolio to mitigate risk, but what is the risk that they're looking to be mitigated?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, I think -- I think you have to go back up earlier on the page, actually, where it talks -- the Board talks about the differentiating between supply versus transportation.

MR. QUINN:  And I am focused on this paragraph.  I understand in the supply paragraph -- and it reads previous to that:

"The Board is not in favour of new long-term utility supply contracts at this time."

So it differentiates supply from transportation.  In the transportation section, though, it is still referring to a risk, so I'm asking Union's view of what risk the Board was trying to ensure that was understood and what they were trying to avoid in terms of asking the utilities to have the diversified portfolio.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I don't know if the witness can look into the mind of the Board and say what the Board intended or didn't intend.  I think what my friend is asking is why is diversity -- is a lack of diversity a risk.  Is that effectively the purpose of the question?

MR. QUINN:  I guess I'm asking for their general view, because there was some differences in people talking about financial risk and regulatory risk on Friday, and this is fundamentally what the Board was trying to address with having guidelines, is that the utility should be mindful of managing this risk.  I would have thought that the utilities would have a view on what risk was being contemplated by the Board in setting out guidelines which would allow for the pre-approval of cost consequences.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I did actually read the next page of this natural-gas forum, which I think would be instructive as well, but it talks about the Board actually approving or agreeing to look at not only these transportation contracts but supply contracts as well, and it gives some indication of what the guidelines would be.

So the Board goes on beyond that paragraph and actually talks about supporting supply and transportation contracts, and as you know, this report was 2005.  Natural guidelines were established in 2009, and the guidelines were more focused on transportation, so even that thought had evolved a bit between '05 and '09, but the Board clearly looked at the value that transportation contracts pre-approval can have for the market in Ontario and to provide the guarantee that the utility is looking for in terms of prudence review.

MR. QUINN:  And that's the positive side of the equation that's in the preceding sentence.  I'm asking about the risk component, but I'm going to move on, because I think it will be something we can take up in argument.

Would you agree with me one of the risks that the Board could have been avoiding is the utility choosing the wrong path for a substantial portion of its portfolio?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know again if he's asking -- my friend is asking to speculate as to what's in the mind of the Board as to what the Board meant or didn't mean.  So I'm troubled by the question, I guess.  If he is asking is the concern with respect to diversity and that implies the path that the gas travels on, I guess I can understand that question, but the witness can only answer what's in the realm of their knowledge as to what they perceive to be the risk as intended by diversity or a lack thereof, not what the Board intended or didn't intend in making its decision.

MS. SPOEL:  I think, Mr. Keizer, the question was -- Mr. Quinn asked was would the witness agree that one of the risks that the Board could have been avoiding is utility choosing the wrong -- is the utility choosing -- the way I heard that question was, is the utility choosing the wrong path for substantial portion of its portfolio a risk.  Maybe we can -- I think that's the question.  I think that that was what Mr. Quinn intended by his question.  Am I correct?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Yeah.  So perhaps you could answer that question as opposed to what was in the Board's mind, what's in your mind about what the risks might be.  That's --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  -- useful.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I think our evidence does address that.  Our landed costs analysis that we do shows multiple paths, so we do lead evidence in terms of the value of NEXUS to Union's customers in Ontario relative to other paths that land at Dawn as well.  So we do address that.  But that is part of the review today, obviously, is is the NEXUS path the right path.

MR. QUINN:  So I didn't still hear an answer.  Is one of the considerations the Board has that the utility ought to be mindful of is choosing -- their concern would be choosing the wrong path for a substantial portion of its portfolio?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I just spun that to be the positive, in that our evidence is trying to support this path.  So I think we're saying the same thing, Mr. Quinn.  I'm just saying our obligation is to support the path that we've chosen for the Board to consider.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to try this a totally different way.  Moving up the value chain from a pipeline perspective, the pipeline is risking capital to provide service.  Would you agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The NEXUS pipeline?  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Any pipeline.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  In general.  Okay.  So would you agree with me also they managed their risk through long-term contracting?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So the contract creates more certainty for them in terms of risking their capital, less risk; you'd agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  In essence, they're transferring some of their risk to shippers, who accept with the expectation make money moving the commodity through the pipeline.  Would you agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So now as a utility, you're not taking on this risk for the opportunity to make money.  You’ve made that clear, and we respect that.

But if you were to take on a contract to be able to provide gas service to your customers in your franchise, you would now bear some of that financial risk.  Would you not agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Through the – yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Exactly.  And that's where Mr. Millar was going in terms of what Union might refer to as regulatory risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be the shareholders’ regulatory risk, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So in essence, going through the value chain, is not what Union is asking to have done here is by establishing pre-approval, it's transferring the risk from the pipeline to the ratepayers, the financial risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Board, in previous decisions, has recognized that the utilities would be reluctant to get into long-term contracts of significant volumes because of the risk to the shareholder.  So the pre-approval process is really a line to address that regulatory risk.

And what I said to Mr. Millar on Friday was that if the Board decides that pre-approval is appropriate, then those cost consequences are basically accepted as being the toll that ratepayers will pay.

So for me, it's not so much transferring the risk.  It's saying the tolls that we have calculated for 15 years are deemed to be acceptable, and that would be basically built into the cost of gas.  So it becomes a cost for them; I don't view it as being a risk for them.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that's your evidence, sir, but my question still remains.  By establishing pre-approval, is Union not requesting that the financial risk that the pipeline bears is now born in part by the ratepayers, who are the residual claimant in this contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  My answer hasn't changed, Mr. Quinn.  I can repeat it again, but for me the cost is being agreed as being the cost, and it is a cost that gets passed on to ratepayers.  We've done our best to lock in the capital cost track or the 15 percent, so it's not an unlimited risk.  It is limited to 15 upside, and you have a 15 percent reduction potential as well.

So the cost is picked up by the ratepayer, I agree with that.  But for me, it’s a not a risk at that point in time.  It's agreed that it's a cost.

MR. QUINN:  So you see the ratepayers as not having any risk in Union accepting this contract under the conditions in your application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They’re accepting the cost, not the risk.  There is no risk.  The risk is capped at 15 percent capital.  We know what that rate will be in the worst case locked in for 15 years.  It's not a risk; it's locked in.

MR. QUINN:  And you're relying on the analysis of ICF, but you would agree with me they do not have a perfect crystal ball and other things may change in the next 15 years?  Would that not be an element of risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The toll on the pipeline doesn't change.

MR. QUINN:  I know that, sir.  But I'm asking about the risk the Board ought to be – the Board, in my view, is indicating the utility ought to be concerned; that's why it has a diversified portfolio.  We'll leave that for argument.

But specific to my question, is this not fundamentally a transfer of financial risk from the pipeline developers to the ratepayer, under the value chain I created?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's two components to the landed cost; the pipe itself, which is a fixed cost, and to your point, the cost of supply going into the pipeline as well.

And that pipeline, relying on the ICF forecast -- and we've been watching that forecast carefully as it unfolded the last year or two or three, and the ICF forecast remains very positive in terms of the supply at Utica and Marcellus in terms of its growth, and that growing supply means good things in terms of supply competitiveness relative to getting our gas at Dawn.

In fact, I think it was discussed on Friday that over the 15 years it will land at Dawn, 68 cents less than the value of Dawn gas, which is very positive.  It’s positive for our ratepayers, and it’s positive for all of Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  Could you provide an evidentiary reference to what you just said there, 68 cents less at Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  In Exhibit A --


MR. QUINN:  Is this an up to date cost analysis, or is this --


MR. GILLETT:  This is from the original pre-filed evidence, our landed cost analysis --


MR. QUINN:  If you’re going back to your pre-filed evidence, I have in my compendium -- we subsequently have updated those numbers.  So your pre-filed evidence may indicate 68 cents, and that was based upon the best analysis in the day.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I'll come to where it is today, and then we'll see if there is any risk in the forecast.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think on Friday, Mr. Gillett had mentioned that we had updated within our own shop the landed cost analysis, and it's still showing savings at Dawn that are significant.

MR. QUINN:  That's not on the record, sir.  I think we'll deal with what's on the record.  So specific to your elimination of risk, if I may phrase it as such, you're saying the ratepayers have no risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's low.  I say it's low risk.

MR. QUINN:  So what are the remaining risks?

MR. SHORTS:  I think, as Mr. Isherwood mentioned, the Utica supply risk in the supply – there is not just ICF.  I mean, Sussex has spent a great deal of time talking about the growth in the supply, and we're seeing Utica being the fastest production growing area.

So all of those signals point to it being the place, from an economics perspective, you want to be able to buy your gas at.

MR. QUINN:  Let me be specific.  What has Union done to mitigate the currency risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't hedge currency; we don't hedge gas supply either.  We're not allowed so hedge gas supply.  So hedging currency for gas supply would not be allowed.

MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me there is a currency risk for ratepayers?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, one of the things you have to realize is most of the gas that trades in North America is traded on US dollars per MBtu basis.  It is NYMEX based.  Almost the entire portfolio is US-based already.

So a change in the FX rate is going to have a very minimal impact on the savings.  I mean, I'm not going to jump to a conclusion of where you're going, but when you look at the change in the interrogatory response, I mean you're looking at a very simplistic response that we had provided given the timed answer to interrogatories.

We did not rerun, or have ICF rerun the analysis.  So when we show the difference in the FX rate from where we had filed to the one you have filed in your compendium, I mean that's probably not all that -- it's as accurate as we could get in the timeline.

But as Mr. Gillett had mentioned on Friday, we've rerun that analysis and the market is recalibrated.  And what you'll find is that even with the change to a more current exchange rate, the savings are still very, very substantial.  You're talking almost 500 million dollars compared to -- on an updated Dawn basis versus the NEXUS contract.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to put this in perspective, when we buy gas at Dawn, we’re not buying gas at Dawn in Canadian dollars; we buy gas at Dawn in US dollars.  The entire North American market is priced in US dollars.

MR. QUINN:  And your ratepayers pay in Canadian currency.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We’re paying a bill in US dollars.  So, yes, we translate it -- our cost is US dollars and we charge customers in Canadian dollars.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, so there is a currency risk?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The currency risk is there irregardless of where we buy it.  Whether it’s Dawn, Marcellus, the Gulf Coast, western Canada, it doesn't matter; it is the same currency risk.

MR. QUINN:  You're saying there is a currency risk in western Canada relative to Ontario?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Only from the point of view that the western Canadian price of gas will move and shift as FX changes.

MR. QUINN:  That's a commodity risk, sir; that’s not a currency risk.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Driven by the currency change.

MR. QUINN:  I realize we're not helping the Board here, so I'm going to try to move on.  But I'm going to finish with one last question.

I established the value chain from the pipeline to the customer before.  Is Union's owner, Spectra, indifferent to the result of the decision in this proceeding, economically?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It depends if you -- I would say they're not indifferent.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And that is because they are a 50 percent owner of the pipeline, whether you would deem that to be an affiliate or not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, before you continue, I don't believe we marked your compendium as an exhibit.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit K2.1, that's the FRPO compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF FRPO FOR UNION PANEL 1

Mr. Quinn, this is for both the utilities, is that right?

MR. QUINN:  It's for all three panels, Mr. Millar.  But thank you for doing that.  That was my omission at the outset; I apologize.

MS. SPOEL:  Do we have a copy of that?

MR. MILLAR:  I have a spare here, if you need one, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  I do not seem to have one -- yes, I do have it, I’m sorry.  It was under yesterday's pile.

MR. QUINN:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  I should have made sure at the outset that that --


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  And, sorry, that is Exhibit -- what was the exhibit number, Mr. --


MR. MILLAR:  2.1.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I'm going to move to some aspects of supply that were discussed with Mr. Millar on Friday.  I want to make sure there is clarity for the record.  So on page 5 of K2.1, I put in -- choosing to be frugal, I put in the black and white, and knowing that colour would come up on the monitor, but the concern or things I think I need to clarify are in black and white, because, Mr. Isherwood -- and I thought about putting in the transcript, but in reality I think we just need to get a direction here.  When you were talking about this with Mr. Millar on Friday you referred to your portfolio as being 450 TJs, and he was asking that in context of these charts.

I respect that you gave an answer of 450 TJs, but would you not agree with me your total portfolio for north and south is 450 TJs?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  That's a good correction.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So could you tell us what your south portfolio is in terms of GJs?  I said GJs, but TJs to stay in reference with 450?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I'm just finding the reference for you.  Just one second.

MR. QUINN:  Well, would you take it subject to check it's 360 TJs?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's about right, yeah.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just to save time.  But I wanted to make sure, because from that there were discussions about the uncommitted supply, and I want to make sure we have clarity in terms of what you're referring to in terms of your portions of your portfolio that are called Dawn and other.

So for 2015, January 2015, which was last year, you have Dawn and other at 8 percent.  Were those Dawn purchases or what does the other category refer to?

MR. SHORTS:  That would be all Dawn purchases.  We just kept the same title for the two graphs.

MR. QUINN:  So at this point in a do-nothing alternative, to the extent that your port -- I shouldn't say do-nothing, but to the extent your portfolio will remain the same to November of 2017 as depicted, 17 percent would be sourced directly at Dawn and not upstream?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That does assume the 30 percent flowing on NEXUS, right?

MR. QUINN:  The Appalachia NEXUS 30 percent in the bottom right-hand corner, that's what I'm reading.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  And so I'm asking about the 17 percent that is remaining.

MR. SHORTS:  That 17 percent would be all Dawn, because we do not know yet what we're going to be contracting for upstream for a portion or all of that.

And Mr. Quinn, I think there is another distinction here.  You look at the numbers that support that, and I believe it's...

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, there was a number of assumptions that were put into that pie chart.  So for ease of understanding what we did was we just assumed that the portfolio looks very similar and that the Alliance and TransCanada capacity that we turn back gets replaced with NEXUS.

So the pie charts were supposed to be -- were meant to be indicative of what the portfolio could look like in '17.  One of the IR responses, Board Staff 12, there seemed to be some interest in understanding the assumptions, so we tried to lay that out more clearly with, I guess, simpler assumptions.

So we can talk more about that 17 percent at Dawn, but there was a number of assumptions put behind that.  If you want to see more about the uncommitted, Staff 12 is probably a better place to look just because we've tried to peel back some of the assumptions and lay it out a bit clearer.

MR. SHORTS:  And then that's the place where -- and that's the place where the 100,000 -- little more over 100,000 GJs a day for uncommitted for '17 for the south, that's where that comes from.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And in Staff 17 it shows 111,536 TJs.  We'll turn it up in a moment.  If I can just stay on this graph, if you can take it subject to check, it's 111 TJs of uncommitted shown in Staff 12.  So --


MR. GILLETT:  For '17, yes.

MR. QUINN:  For '17.  So if I do the math -- and you can do the math with me -- but I take 17 percent of 360, I get 61,000.  That's a significant difference between 61,000 and 111 of 50,000 TJs.  Where would I find the TJs in this chart?

MR. GILLETT:  So again, there was a number of assumptions put behind those pie charts that we were trying to be simple as possible in terms of outlining what the portfolio could shift to in '17.  Again, what we tried to do in Board Staff 12 is peel back those assumptions and lay out a much cleaner look at what our portfolio would look like in '17.

So I understand what you're trying to do is map the pie charts to Board Staff 12, but it really is apples to oranges to do that.  If you want to understand what our uncommitted level is, Board Staff 12 really is the place to look because you can see what the northern and southern portfolios look like in a much clearer way.  Those pie charts are just an indicative look of how the portfolio could shift.

MR. QUINN:  And being indicative, people tend -- or tend to go to them for reference.  So I want to make sure there is a consistency, and I may at the break study Board Staff 12 and see if I still have any questions.

So I'll leave one or two of my questions for that opportunity.  But what I want to do is focusing on that portfolio, I see here January of 2015 you have approximately 31 percent coming from Chicago?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct, in the January '15.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  Now, Union talks about the importance of being in the basin.  When you say the basin you mean the supply basin, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, where there are lots of suppliers transacting.

MR. QUINN:  That's generally speaking, sir, called a hub, is it not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We differentiate between a market hub, Chicago, and a supply basin, being things like the WCSB or Alliance.  It would be more of a supply basin.  But Chicago is clearly a market hub, not unlike Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So that's what I'm trying to differentiate.  Union has stated several times they want to be back in the basin, but I don't see Chicago being a basin.  Would you agree with me?

MR. SHORTS:  It's a market area, much like Dawn is, so that particular transaction would not get back to the -- would not definitely be back into the supply basin.

MR. GILLETT:  But it is a highly liquid market hub.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I would like to stay with the flow I have.  I've made a note for Staff 12.  I just want to check in with Madam Chair about the time of a break, and I will be conscious of breaking then.  I can look at that and not take any more time if I can do that reconciliation.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, we would break somewhere between quarter to 11:00 and eleven o'clock, depending on where a good spot is for you.  I think you can --


MR. QUINN:  I'll find an appropriate time --


MS. SPOEL:  -- find the appropriate time --


MR. QUINN:  -- and I will use my time then to review Staff 12 and I can move on from there.  Thank you.

One other point of cleanup from last Friday, Mr. Isherwood, you were having the exchange with Mr. Wolnik regarding the increment at Dawn, and with Ms. Alexander again this morning you started talking about approximately 1.6 BCF of supply coming to Dawn as a result of NEXUS and Rover, but I understand from your interaction with Mr. Wolnik that the incremental supply to Dawn is really closer to .3; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The distinction I was trying to make is incremental supply is .3.  That's reflected by the meter change that's happening in the Dawn yard on behalf of Vector.  We're increasing capacity by .3.

When you look at the capacity coming in on Vector, it's all coming in today from Chicago.  And there is 1.6 PJs a day in the future that is switching its receipt point from Chicago basically pivoting over to Utica and Marcellus.

So the incremental is .3, but the amount of capacity that can actually flow on NEXUS and Vector, according to what's been announced, is closer to the 1.6 PJs.  It's not incremental, all of it, but it is going back to different basin.  It's going to Utica instead of the market hub in Chicago.  That's kind of a bit of a distinction between the two numbers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  It's important then to understand, though, the incremental supply to Dawn is .3, approximately.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And you also then referred to the meter change and said based upon certain conditions and having done a similar job as you in your history in operations engineering, you're talking about a meter change which may allow on some days incrementally more gas.

So .3 is the contracted increment.  The meter would handle marginally more than that, .4 maybe?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, I probably shouldn't get into that.  That's more Vector's commercial arrangements, but it is more.

MR. QUINN:  It is more, but we're not talking about another BCF.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just want to make sure we're clear for the record when you say more will be coming, meter changes can allow small increments; I respect that.  Okay.

As referred to previously about the landed cost analysis that’s been done by ICF, and we have put in our compendium on pages 6 and 7 a request by LPMA to update the landed cost analysis that was in schedule 5 as referenced to an -- updating it for the current exchange rate.

So using those updated figures, I just wanted to make sure we are on the same page, and this would be page – sorry, it doesn’t have a -- page 7.  Because the print goes into the top of the page, I guess the page number is gone.  But we still have the reference.

At the top of the page, TCPL, Niagara to Kirkwall – I’m reading across -- is 9 dollars and 1 cent; do you see that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And the NEXUS base case is 9.36; do I have that right?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And that is landing differently.  Its landing at Dawn versus Kirkwall?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So Union has expressed concern, and it's throughout the record and I have read the record, and I understand you have concerns about Niagara as a place to purchase gas.

But your own consultant has to take those concerns into account when they do their analysis, do they not?

MR. SHORTS:  As mentioned on Friday, Mr. Quinn, when we look at the ICF analysis, when they show Niagara, it's really not just the Niagara Canadian point.  It's a combination of Niagara as well as north-western New York State.

So what you find is that actually to get to a Niagara specific point, that's not what they provide us with.  They provide us with a combination of north-western New York and Niagara price.  We use it as a proxy because they don't have a specific Niagara price.

In conversations with ICF, they’ve recognized that difference and they will start now going forward actually showing a Niagara point separately in their note analysis.  And they have said they're going to start that in their -- probably in the next few months, they'll start showing a separate Niagara note rather than the way they continued to show it in the past.

MR. QUINN:  Is that a Union specific request?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that’s a -- when we talk to the – just the market dynamics, that's something they've recognized.  And they’ve looked at their -- as they do, they look at all of their notes, and they change those notes as the markets change over time.

MR. QUINN:  I heard earlier that you've relied on their forecast for years.  You'd agree with me that no forecast is perfect; it’s an estimate.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, it's just a reasonableness check we provide, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So there’s going to be a – it’s too strong to say reformulation, but a reformatting and depicting of a Niagara point separate is what you're telling me going forward?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But what we have, and what the Board needs to rely on in this proceeding is the evidence in front of us.

And I would submit that there is also empirical evidence that is not necessarily based upon estimate, but is based upon actual.  So Union has been buying at Niagara the last three years at a level admittedly of 20,000, and given the Board has to determine if Union has adequately assessed other alternatives to what it is proposing to the Board, we would ask that Union undertake to provide the average monthly cost of gas over the last three years at Niagara, and those same costs at Dawn, ideally by way of graph to compare the monthly cost at Dawn to the monthly cost at Niagara over the last three years, and the monthly cost of gas purchased by Union at Niagara during that period.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess I’m trying to get an understanding of what is doable and, I guess, trying to understand from Union's perspective as to whether it is.

If it's something that's going to take a significant amount of work, we would just try our best to do it and have to make any necessary assumptions that we need to.  So my -- I guess the question is whether it's readily available or not.

MR. SHORTS:  We have all -- we certainly have all the information.  I just don't know exactly how long it would take to compile it.

We do know, based upon history, that the price transparency is just not at Niagara.  So we have shown that in a graph.  But I don't know if we actually have charted that price.

You did mention, Mr. Quinn, that -- I do know recently, and just because of recent information, we have just seen that our Niagara purchase for November, for example, is now actually going to be more expensive than our Dawn purchases for November.

MR. QUINN:  I asked specifically, sir, and you're talking about referencing index prices and transparency.  I asked for your purchases at Niagara and your purchases at Dawn, the average monthly price over the last three years.

MR. SHORTS:  I believe we could provide that.

MR. QUINN:  I don't see a time constraint.  Do you at this point?

MR. SHORTS:  Honestly, I don't know how long it would take to -- I can't say right now it's going to take one day or one week to get all of that information.

MR. QUINN:  Or one hour?

MR. SHORTS:  I can guarantee we can't do it in one hour.

MR. QUINN:  With due respect, we asked for this at the technical conference, and it was discarded as a result of relevance.  We're asking again, so I would respectfully request Union vest the time, whether it is an hour or a day, but I would say it's probably closer to an hour.

These are costs you have to put in front of the Board in your QRAM proceedings from your supply points, for those periods of time.  So it's a culmination or aggregation of data that is readily available.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Quinn, maybe at the break inquiries could be made as to how much and when -- I think the Board is interested in seeing this information, so we would like to have it and perhaps inquiries can be made as to a time frame upon which it might be made available.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, we'll certainly do the inquiries.  And I think that's what the witness is saying, is that he wants to step back and see how long it is --


MS. SPOEL:  Maybe a phone call can be made over the lunch hour.

MR. KEIZER:  It’s a bit unfair to say that he could produce in an hour, but --


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the undertaking is J2.1.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  UNION TO PROVIDE DATA RELATED TO PURCHASES AT NIAGARA, PURCHASES AT DAWN, AND THE AVERAGE MONTHLY PRICE OVER THE LAST THREE YEARS

MR. QUINN:  Now, at different junctures in this proceeding, Union has talked about other challenges at Niagara, both upstream and downstream of Niagara in terms of pipe capacity.

What evidence can Union point to in this proceeding that demonstrates the unavailability of pipeline capacity upstream or downstream of Niagara?

MR. SHORTS:  We have certainly noted where the capacity that has been held in open seasons has been fully contracted at Niagara.

We do know and have quoted the capacity of the pipeline, being approximately 1.2 PJs to 1.3 PJs per day.  We know that capacity has already been fully contracted by parties on the Niagara to Dawn path, for example.

MR. QUINN:  Fully contracted from Niagara to Dawn?

MR. SHORTS:  Or at least Niagara to Kirkwall, depending -- it could be Niagara to Kirkwall, it could be Niagara to the CDA, it could be Niagara to Dawn.  But capacity at Niagara basically coming into Canada is now fully contracted as is that path, as well on the US side.

MR. QUINN:  I've heard your assertions to that effect, sir, but I haven't seen the evidence.  And Mr. Gillett, I notice, is rifling through the binder.

Possibly you can provide me a reference, and again I can take a look at the break to see if that meets our need.

MR. GILLETT:  You're asking whether or not upstream of Niagara has been fully contracted, and sort of the history of the development?

MR. QUINN:  For 2017, which is the frame of – sorry, it is the time frame that we're speaking of in terms of NEXUS potentially coming on stream.

MR. GILLETT:  I'm not sure if this gets you what you need, but in TCPL 8 there were questions on whether Union has looked at contracting upstream at Niagara, the various open seasons that had happened from 2012 until now.  So I'm not sure if that's what you're looking for.

MR. QUINN:  I asked upstream and downstream.  I will review TCPL 8 for upstream, but do you have a downstream reference where you have demonstrated capacity and evidence contracts that fill that capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  The TransCanada CD reports, which is where they post what's contracted.  They actually don't post until after the contract has already started to flow.  So based upon what TransCanada has indicated, I believe even last week at the LDC forum they showed a graph that showed capacity contracted, and it basically showed 1.2 contracted.

MR. QUINN:  So you're -- I'm sorry, sir, but some of us were in other meetings and weren't at the LDC forum.  Is there evidence on the record to that effect?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that would not be on -- that presentation or slide would not be on the record.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we're limited in that regard.  I'll look at TCPL 8 at the break.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, we're happy to file that slide if my friend would like.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we -- I don't have an opportunity to test the source of that data, the time relevance.  What I was asking for is, Union has made that statement, but I couldn't find anything on the record to support that, so I'll look at TCPL 8 for the upstream capacity and may satisfy that need, and the downstream we can move on from at this point, because I would like to hit one more area before the break.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, my --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, just a minute, Mr. Quinn.  The witness has stated what the source of the information is, which is its information from TCPL.  If there is a slide available that demonstrates that, I think it would be useful for it to be filed for everybody's information.

And you were right, you won't have a TCPL witness here to cross-examine on it, but you -- I think it's evidence that has been stated on the record, that that is the best evidence at the moment available to Union, who is of course relying on it secondhand from TCPL, but I think you can accept it for what it is and go on from there.

MR. QUINN:  If the Board is interested to see, Madam Chair, I certainly will accept that.  I just stated my concern in terms of relying upon it, because we all are aware of different things in the market, not which are on the record, and I'm not --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, it's a matter of weight, I think, and we'll take --


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  -- that into account.  But, yes, if you could file it, Mr. Keizer, that would be useful.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's -- I'll mark that as an undertaking, J2.2, and it's to file the slide from that presentation.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO FILE THE SLIDE FROM A TCPL PRESENTATION.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the slide available immediately?  Like, is it something we could get on the break?

MR. SHORTS:  I suspect so.  I have seen the slide.  I also was not at the forum, so just one of -- I heard it was one of the slides and did see the slide.  I just don't know if I -- I would have to double-check just to make sure that --


MR. KEIZER:  We'll determine at the break.

MR. SHORTS:  Yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  If it's around, then --


MR. SHORTS:  Yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  -- Mr. Quinn could see it before he concludes his cross-examination.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MS. DeABREU:  Hi, Lisa DeAbreu here with TransCanada.  I can make that available.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Ms. DeAbreu.

I want to turn to one more area and then find an appropriate point to break.  What I understand -- and I have -- we talked about during the technical conference is that one-third of the supply that is coming in from NEXUS would be going to the north; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And at the risk of summarizing this incorrectly -- and Mr. Shorts, correct me if I'm wrong -- but we had a dialogue that I chose not to file in completion because it was six pages of transcript, but we tried to understand how you came to the decision of 50 TJs, and I summarized it by saying you needed 100 TJs for the south and to meet anchor shipper status you needed to hit the threshold of 150, so you purchased an additional 50 for the north.

Stopping there, is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  We look at the entire portfolio.  We don't just look at it north versus south.  But we felt that 150 on NEXUS for the north and south was the right number.

MR. QUINN:  But there was no analysis done to look at the cost impact of that approach of serving the north from NEXUS?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, we had already pursued that through the Parkway projects on the benefits of providing the north access to Dawn.  And when we did the Atlantic cost analysis that was showing that Dawn was even going to land less than -- or sorry, that NEXUS was going to land less than Dawn, it was even more of a confirmation of our expectations to want to include the north in the savings and the north benefits of diversity.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, just to add to that, on Friday we looked at two pie charts for the north that show the north today 100 percent served by the WCSB, and in 2017 with the diversity of Dawn and splitting Dawn into two components, I think 52 percent of it becomes Dawn based with half of that being essentially NEXUS supply and half of it being Dawn supply.

So by adding that piece of the pie, NEXUS to the north, it actually increases security supply for the north.

MR. QUINN:  Well, that's your view, sir, and I want to just make sure we understand this in context.  In the technical conference -- and you don't need to turn it up.  You can if you'd like -- in the technical conference, pages 8 to 14, we went over this area.  And what I was asked to do -- I was invited to do by Mr. Keizer is to review the approvals that Union was relying on in the previous proceedings, being the GTA, Parkway West, and Brantford-Kirkwall proceedings.

So in reviewing those economics it was clear that the economics came up with a PI of 1.0 and updated to 1. -- sorry, 1.01, to be specific, and updated to 1.02.  And while some parties argued the economics were questionable, the Board approved those projects in that proceeding to facilitate the transition from long-haul to short-haul in general.

However, I do not see that decision as relieving the utility of analyzing and seeking approval for additional steps undertaken in the years to come.  With the cost better known today we are asking Union to provide evidence that the cost consequences of feeding the north from a NEXUS contract makes sense relative to other alternatives.  We submit the Board would be interested to know if the north would be best fed by this contract or by other means, such as Kirkwall or Empress?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, Mr. Quinn, I guess what the Board decided in that decision was it did make sense for the north to be fed from Dawn, as Mr. Shorts pointed out.  And our analysis shows NEXUS landing at Dawn 68 cents lower than Dawn.

So if you assume that Dawn is acceptable in supplying gas at 68 cents cheaper, can be acceptable as well by extension.

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Quinn, I had this discussion briefly with Mr. Wolnik on Friday, and I'll reference it again, though, but in our interrogatory responses -- so this is Exhibit B.T1.Union.Staff 8 -- we outline what the bill impacts are associated with the roughly $700 million of gas cost savings, landed cost savings, associated with NEXUS, and that applies equally to Union north and Union south customers.  It's roughly 29 to $30 in savings for the average residential customer.

MR. QUINN:  And then those are put together, sir, I'm asking specifically to the north, and differentiating the north, there were costs that upon review and depending on Union's willingness to accept this undertaking we can go through some of the other components of my compendium, but it is our view that Union needs to make -- continue to make prudent decisions in how to feed its customers, especially in this case from the north.

Some of the customers from the north continue to be filled from Empress, and we appreciate that Union has recognized that value, but there are other points of, besides just Dawn, that gas can come from.  And Union focuses on the fact that they were planning on coming from Dawn and they are coming from Dawn, but since that time other points like Kirkwall or eventually Iroquois are coming in as supply points.  And we're concerned that Union be responsible to provide evidence that each step when it reallocates a portfolio there is an economic analysis done.

So we're simply asking, so if Union could undertake to provide the GJ total annualized cost impact feeding the NDA specifically using the landed gas costs, which is made up of commodity costs, transport costs, and also includes the storage costs, which includes both Union M12 costs and TCPL STS costs to meet winter conditions, which is a requirement to make sure the gas gets there in the winter.

If Union would provide those three approaches, then a comparison can be made as to the alternatives of feeding the north from other points that are available.

Can Union provide that undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  I'm struggling as to the relevance in this proceeding of that undertaking.  I mean, you know, this is a contract which is a transportation contract to bring ultimately gas supply to Dawn.  Union has looked at its portfolio and has made a determination that it's going to provide that gas from Dawn.  There seems to be other precedent -- as the witness has already indicated -- to encourage the delivery of gas from Dawn and to provide that diversity.

And so I'm not quite sure what going back and redoing what was previously done in other proceedings has to do with this proceeding, which is to deal with this contract, which is to deal with this contract which has a term over 15 years with a very clear and defined path.

MR. QUINN:  The relevance, sir, is the underlying presumption by Union is feeding gas from Marcellus must go through Dawn.  When it's obviously clear that Marcellus gas is coming from Niagara, Marcellus gas in the very near future, as early as 2017, being personally aware of a shipper who has a contract at Iroquois starting in 2017, gas is flowing from Iroquois also.

Union ought to analyze each step of its evolution as opposed to saying we received Board approval for getting supply closer to market, which is Marcellus as opposed to Empress.  So to quote Union on page 10 of the technical conference transcript where Union says those costs are irrelevant, that's not our view because costs should still be monitored and analyzed in our view, to make sure they're prudent going forward on behalf of, in this case, customers in the north.  So that's the relevancy.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, my understanding is that what you're asking is for us to predict the future as to what projects we think could or could not be in play in 2017.  And what the Board has before it today is the actual circumstance the applicant has asked the Board to assess, which is this contract, which is a defined path to Dawn and at pricing from Dawn, which is the basis on which the supply portfolio is constructed.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, it seems to me, Mr. Keizer, that you are correct that the Board is here to make a determination on this particular contract.  However, in the context as to whether or not it's appropriate for the Board to grant a pre-approval of the cost consequence which means they will be borne by the ratepayers at the risk they might not be able to get a better deal somewhere else down the road, that is, I think, a risk that the ratepayers do bear if this is pre-approved and locked into a cost for 15 years.

I think an examination of the alternatives to that, while you're correct that it involves predicting the future to an extent, this whole thing involves predicting 15 years of future as to whether or not this is a good deal for ratepayers, which I think is our function in this, to determine whether it's a reasonable deal for ratepayers.

So I think it is reasonable and relevant to have some view as to what the alternatives are.  I’m not sure that -- perhaps you can have a discussion at the break as to exactly how much analysis is required.  It was a long question and I couldn't keep track of all the moving parts as to exactly what numbers you want for everything.  But I think that some information about the cost of alternatives -- the possible cost of possible alternatives is a relevant consideration in this whole exercise, because that's why we're here.

MR. KEIZER:  And I hear your point about comparisons to alternatives and, to some extent, I think the alternatives that Union has considered are the ones that exist in terms of clear defined projects, whether it's Rover.  We've heard evidence with respect to capacity at Niagara and, I guess, to some extent in my friend’s mind there is a debate as to whether there is or is not capacity at Niagara and the ability to be there.  I think the evidence is there isn't.

So my only concern is to suddenly not start picking supply points when there is no viable means by which -- and maybe no plan in place by which that supply can either be accounted for, or actually physically get to the appropriate point of delivery.

MS. SPOEL:  I think that's a matter for argument.  Certainly I think Union is free to argue that those are not viable alternatives.  But in terms of evidence, it will be helpful for all concerned to have some estimate of what alternatives might mean for ratepayers.

Perhaps we can take a break now, and you can have some discussions as to what is a reasonable amount of information to provide that will give Mr. Quinn and us a basis upon which to argue and make a decision.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
--- Recess taken at 10:53 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:13 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Keizer, do you have any updates on availability of information?

MR. KEIZER:  I can try to clarify what we think we could do with respect to the undertaking that Mr. Quinn was seeking.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  I think what Union has discussed over the break as to what they could do, what they would do is provide a landed cost for the north for supplies, first of all, landed at Dawn, also would look at landed costs for the north for supplies landed at Kirkwall.

With respect to areas such as Empress or Iroquois, the issue of concern there is that the current short-haul contracts that Union has and the current work that it is doing in respect of its various builds won't make it possible to do a contract either at Empress or Iroquois with respect to that, so they're prepared to provide the landed cost, which in this proceeding effectively the consideration has been on the basis of landed cost, so they're enabling an apples-to-apples comparison between supplies for the north, just the north, landed at Dawn, and landed at Kirkwall.

MR. QUINN:  First off, thank you for Union's consideration.  I want to ask questions of clarification to ensure that it's covering what I thought we'd spoke of before the break.  I didn't hear back from them after the break.

Would those costs include the costs for incremental STS service and M12 cost increases associated with Dawn-Parkway facilities to get the gas to the north?

MR. KEIZER:  I believe it's --


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, Mr. Quinn, it would include the combined impacts of the 2015, 2016, 2017 Dawn to Parkway projects, as well as any TransCanada costs, including STS, that are part of the -- our gas supply plan.  So I suspect for this undertaking we will use calendar 2018 for the basis, given that's when all of those facilities will be in service.

MR. QUINN:  Now, to be clear, this is landed cost at the gate station?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  We --


MR. QUINN:  It includes landed cost commodity, transportation, and storage of transportation service to facilitate.

MR. TETREAULT:  We will -- yes, we will show the bill impacts for customers in various zones in the north based on the assumptions we discussed:  Landed cost at Dawn, as well as the impact of all the takeaway, including the '15 through '17 expansions, as well as the gas supply plan that underpins that in terms of TransCanada costs, et cetera.

MR. QUINN:  What you're not saying, sir -- and I just want to know, because I'm uncomfortable with the change.  Are you talking about delivery impacts that would include CCA reductions as a result of the Dawn-Parkway projects?  I was talking about landed costs as a fixed commodity and the decisions to land commodity.  Are you extending that or -- to include delivery rate impacts, which are insulated by CCA credits in those early years?

MR. TETREAULT:  We certainly could include the  total --

MR. QUINN:  I'm not ask --


MR. TETREAULT:  -- bill impacts, as well as the commodity side.

MR. QUINN:  I'm not asking for that to be included, because it distorts the landed-cost picture.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think you can't necessarily pick and choose what costs you can include and not include.  If there's costs that get included and there's something that gets netted against cost, you have to reflect what the true costs really are.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Quinn, why don't you -- why don't we have Union prepare what they can and file it, and that will be their evidence, and if there are items of the cost that you think should be discounted or removed you can deal with that in argument so that we can have -- so that, you know, you can pick and choose out of the numbers which parts you think we should take into account or not take into account as part of your argument.  I think trying to sort of argue in advance about the appropriateness of what they might or might not include is very difficult for everyone to follow without having the numbers right in front of us.

So let -- maybe let Union do the best they can.  It's their case.  It's their evidence.  And if they can file evidence that supports their case, great.  And you can do with it what you think appropriate in terms of argument.  I don't think it's very productive right now to have an abstract discussion about why you think certain things should or shouldn't be included.  Let's let them do it.

MR. QUINN:  Respectfully, Madam Chair, I'm in your hands.  If I may ask a couple more questions of clarification, then we can take the undertaking along the lines of which you've just informed us, because one of the caveats that Union put in place was they couldn't analyze the impact of Empress because of contractual commitments that they've made.  I would like to ask the clarifying question from Union Gas as to their ability to ratchet or change STS contracts over time.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, that's a reasonable question.  Go ahead and ask it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I want to ask that before we just take the undertaking, because they've eliminated Empress by the fact they've made contractual commitments.  But they have a portfolio of contracts.  So can you adjust your STS contract over time?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, on the STS front we have typically not been able to in recent history been able to change our STS contracts, but we are in discussions in what that will look like going forward.

MR. QUINN:  But your contract allows for a two-year notice period for the adjustment of parameters in the contract?

MR. SHORTS:  In the best-case scenario, but under the extension case some of those STS contracts were in the path.  We actually had to extend them out to 2022.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  And so that's in the EDA.  That's why I was specific to the NDA.  The NDA is not the affected area in this case; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Unfortunately the way TransCanada structured our -- the way they structured the STS contract, it's one contract.  So when we were required to term up to the EDA as part of their build process we had to term-up the entire contract.  We had discussions about that and ultimately that's what we were forced to do.

So the NDA is included in the entire STS term-up.  So the answer is, no, we do not have the ability to turn back STS rates with two years' notice right now.

MR. QUINN:  That's helpful to understand, Mr. Gillett.  That gives a context, and under that scenario, Madam Chair, I can accept the elimination of Empress, because I want to just understand if we were getting the full answer, a comprehensive answer, so I'll accept as you've outlined the approach.  My concerns there are on the record and we can take any further concerns up in argument.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J2.3, and I think we'll just take the description that was provided by Mr. Keizer at the outset at least for description purposes.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  UNION TO PROVIDE INFORMATION AS DESCRIBED BY MR. KEIZER AT THE OUTSET:  THE landed cost for the north for supplies landed at Dawn; landed costs for the north for supplies landed at Kirkwall

MR. QUINN:  I would like clarity if Union is including delivery or not.  That was the questions I was asking of Mr. Tetreault.

MR. TETREAULT:  I would propose to do it, Mr. Quinn, based on total bill.  I think that's the relevant comparison to look at delivery rates, as well as the transport, storage, and commodity portions because, as you know, the long-haul to short-haul transportation contract conversion touches a number of different rates, specifically transport and storage, and the Dawn to Parkway projects also touch those rates, as well as delivery.  So I think to do this properly and comprehensively we need to take a look at it on a total bill basis.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Quinn, if I could just go back to a discussion before the break, you had asked if capacity not being available upstream and downstream was on the record in any spot, and during the break we had a few minutes to look, but Enbridge has a couple of IRs that does go to that.  It was under issue T2 TCPL 5, and also Board Staff 9 touches on it as well.  I don't recall if it was T1 or T2, but it was Board Staff 9.

But just to kind of round out that discussion, capacity not available is one of our concerns.  The other concern we have in Niagara, it's not a liquid point, and we had talked about that extensively during the Burlington-Oakville case.  We do have evidence on that.  Sussex has evidence on that as well.  And our experience is it's not a liquid point.

So for us we have a concern about taking a large portion of our portfolio to Niagara at this point in time.  We have mentioned that we have between 100 and 150 TJs a day of capacity coming up in '17 -- 2017 that needs to be allocated amongst different paths.  I'd be happy to look at Niagara again for '17 and beyond '17, but in terms of the decision we made on NEXUS, it -- we rolled out Niagara in terms of a large volume for those reasons.

MR. QUINN:  In having the discussion previously, Mr. Shorts brought up information provided by TransCanada at the LDC forum.

I understand that TransCanada provided some information that I think would be helpful for the Board to see.  I understand Union may want to get additional information; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We had a graph in mind that was a different graph, and we wanted to spend time at lunch to try and find it.  It may be a confidential graph that's in some other presentation that was presented to us recently.

But the graph that was provided by TCPL is from the LDC forum that was on Monday-Tuesday of last week.

MR. QUINN:  With your leave, Madam Chair, I would like to speak to that graph for a moment to differentiate the two concepts we're talking about here and make sure, if Union is providing more evidence at the break, it can be seen in context while I have an opportunity to inform the Board on this.

MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps we could have copies of that.

MR. MILLAR:  We do have copies, Madam Chair, and Mr. Gluck will bring them up to you.

MR. KEIZER:  Just to be clear, though, Madam Chair, this is not the graph that Union identified earlier.

MS. SPOEL:  We understand.  But I think that Mr. Quinn, having obtained a copy of it from TCPL, can ask these witnesses questions.  He can file it as an exhibit and ask questions of these witnesses about it.

They may or may not be able to answer those questions, but I think it's not unreasonable for him to use it for the purposes of his cross-examination.

MR. KEIZER:  It may not be, but I am not necessarily sure the witnesses have had appropriate notice on this particular graph, since it's not the one that they saw and it's been handed up from the audience.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, if they can't answer the questions about it, then they can say so.  How's that?  They're free to put whatever caveats about their knowledge or information about this graph that they think appropriate.

This is a public – I guess a semi-public document.  It was filed at the LDC forum, it's in circulation, and I think it's reasonable for Mr. Quinn –- and it was only available this morning.  So I think it's reasonable for Mr. Quinn to ask questions, and your witnesses can answer those questions as they deem appropriate with, as I said, with all the appropriate caveats.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand.  I guess I'm just concerned that for the remainder of the proceeding, that we still are able to adhere to the 24-hour rule with respect to information coming before a witness.

MS. SPOEL:  We'll do our best.

MR. QUINN:  I didn't help Mr. Millar before, and I think he helped me with filing the exhibits.

We have this exhibit, but did I get an undertaking number for the Union's undertaking?  Was it 2.2?

MR. MILLAR:  That was J2.3.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  And this slide from a TCPL presentation, entitled “TransCanada Mainline projects update”, dated November 11, 2015 – it’s a single slide from that, K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  SLIDE FROM TCPL DOCUMENT ENTITLED “TRANSCANADA MAINLINE PROJECTS UPDATE”, DATED NOVEMBER 11, 2015

MS. SPOEL:  Since the existence only came to light –-this ton of information only came to light through these witnesses this morning, Mr. Quinn was hardly in a position to provide --


MR. KEIZER:  I understand, Madam Chair, in terms of it the witness's ability to consider it --


MS. SPOEL:  I understand that.

MR. KEIZER:  -- and be able to formulate the necessary qualifications in their answers.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I hope it's a comfort to Union that I'm not going to spend a lot of time on this.  I just thought it would be helpful, because I brought up the concept of Iroquois.

But more of a focus has been on Niagara, and this provides a more geographic context for the pipelines of TransCanada and the increases in flow as a result of the change in dynamics here for Ontario.

But the point I wanted to specifically get confirmation from the witnesses, in terms of their understanding, is -- the top of the graph is entitled “2014 to 2017 capabilities”.  Would you understand those capabilities as the ability of the pipe to flow that amount of gas on a daily basis?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.  From a contract point of view, correct.

MR. QUINN:  Clearly, though, Mr. Isherwood, you used the word "contract."  This does not demonstrate or articulate -- in the case of specifically Niagara Chippawa, this does not tell you what has been taken up in the market in terms of what has been spoken to by contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The graph is 17 capability, so the 1.2 PJs is the capability in '17.

MR. QUINN:  It does not tell you how much is contracted, correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It does not, but our testimony is that it is fully contracted.

MR. QUINN:  That’s your testimony, sir.  But again, that’s not what this graph, this picture is depicting, is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  I believe the Enbridge IRs I gave reference to would help with that as well.

MR. QUINN:  And so just while it’s in front of you, Madam Chair, for the Board’s knowledge, you'll notice that Iroquois -- that the graph does indicate, admittedly with a question mark -– flow coming in at Iroquois, which is essentially, to situate it geographically, is near Cornwall in the east end of Union Gas's franchise.

And again, just the two lines that are running in parallel to that line coming up from this point of 14.01, that's the Ottawa lines up to Enbridge.  I reference that only because there is information on the record about Iroquois and deliveries at Iroquois.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Quinn, I do think you have to -- you can make whatever comments you want in argument about it.  I do think you have to put those statements in the context of a question to the witnesses, if you want evidence on the record.

If you have a question for these witnesses about Iroquois, you can go ahead and ask it.  But I don't think your explanation about what is shown here isn't really germane at this stage of the proceedings.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I acknowledge that.

To Union's panel, does the Iroquois point come up near Cornwall, near Union's eastern delivery area of its franchise?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As per the map, it does come up at the far end of our eastern franchise area.  I will also point out the question mark.

So the NEXUS contract before the Board is for 158,000 GJs per day.  This is showing a question mark on maybe 30,000 would be available in 2017.

The 30,000 is based on another project in the US being completed, and that project is currently on hold, which is why the question mark on the 30,000 GJs per day.

So to the extent that Niagara is not liquid, Iroquois is many years behind Niagara in terms of being developed.  Will it be developed in the future?  It may.

But in terms of 2017, and the near term around 2017, it's not liquid and a question mark on what volume would even be available.

MR. QUINN:  I'll move off of that, Madam Chair, and I thank you for the Board's indulgence in terms of presenting that, and thanks to our friends from TransCanada making it available on such short notice.

Moving forward, I want to just focus on a concept that I think is –- maybe had insufficient play in this record, but it's involved in other records, which I won't be bringing in.  So I'm going to ask it hopefully on the basis of most evidence in this proceeding, and that's this element of security of supply.

Would you agree with me that a pipe fed from the east and the west creates a greater security of supply than a pipe served just from the west, all things being equal?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, Mr. Quinn.  Any time you can have capacity coming in at various parts helps the pipeline system, much like we have discussed in regards to the capacity coming in at Niagara at about 1.2, similar to the capacity at the west end of the system, about 1.2 or 1.3 is expected as well.

So between those two points, assuming NEXUS, Rover, and Niagara all get developed, that will be good balance and help the pipeline grid in Ontario.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to be fair, I think Union's position is -- for us, it’s not NEXUS or Niagara.  For us, Niagara is already fully developed; it’s at 1.3 or 1.2 PJs. And with NEXUS and Rover fully developed, the testimony from Friday and earlier this morning was 1.6, 1.7 PJs a day coming in on those two projects.

So for me, it's a good balance.  You’ve got some in the west at Dawn, and some at the east at Niagara, and they’re almost the same number.  It’s good for Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  I think it's very important to be clear.  Are you talking about incremental supply of 1.6 or incremental supply of 1.3?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Connectivity to the basin.  So incremental supply, you’re right, Mr. Quinn.  It's .3 incremental at Dawn and 1.3 at Niagara, so it is out of balance from that perspective.

But from the point of view of gas coming to Dawn from the basin, it's balanced.

MR. QUINN:  Well, it depends on what you start with, sir, and I think I'll leave it for argument because this evidence here shows something different in terms of incremental supply at Niagara.

My question specifically to Union is what amount of that incremental supply from Niagara is Union committing to go on behalf of Ontario ratepayers?

MR. SHORTS:  We have the 21,000 committed to from Niagara to Kirkwall.

MR. QUINN:  Incremental supply, sir?  We’re talking about incremental supply coming into Ontario.

MR. SHORTS:  That was capacity we contracted back in 2012.  So at that point in time, it was incremental supply that was coming in.

MR. QUINN:  So no more incremental supply?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As we testified earlier there is 150 to be determined for 2017, and Niagara potentially could be one of those options.

MR. QUINN:  And that would require a 15-year contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you've agreed with me that flows in the east end coming into Kirkwall have some benefit to the system; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So -- and again --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  By benefit to system you mean diversity of supply, security of supply?

MR. QUINN:  Security of supply.  When I say benefit to system -- thank you for the clarification -- we're talking about security of supply.

In addition, you are talking about additional gas as coming in from Niagara, which Union is not at this point making an incremental commitment, but could in the future, but other companies have, correct?  You have increased your pipeline capacity from Kirkwall to Dawn to facilitate some of these contracts coming in?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I can give you an evidentiary record, but -- from outside this proceeding, but instead would you take it subject to check that one single producer is bringing 388,000 GJs into Kirkwall to flow to Dawn starting in November of 2016?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They have contracted for the path; that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So this would bring a benefit to Union Gas, having Niagara-sourced gas available to customers at Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.  As I said earlier even after the break, we want Dawn and Niagara -- sorry, NEXUS, Rover, and Niagara to all develop at the same time.  All three are good for the province.

MR. QUINN:  What would inhibit Union Gas buying some of that 388,000 to put into its portfolio to be able to source Marcellus-originated gas at Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That gas arriving at Dawn will be sold at Dawn-based prices.  So we had had the discussion earlier on Friday in terms of, if NEXUS doesn't get approved, our contract does not get approved, and we don't go forward with the NEXUS contract, then we have 150,000 a day of incremental supply we need to source for 2017, and Dawn-based supply could be part of that, and that supplier you mentioned, producer you mentioned, could be part of that, but that gas land at Dawn not based on the -- not based on the Marcellus price plus tolls.  It lands at Dawn and gets priced at Dawn pricing.

MR. QUINN:  But if you were to, just for argument's sake, buy this gas at Dawn for the 150,000 -- I know that's not what your application says -- there would be a system benefit for Union being able to control the gas and make sure that it arrives at Kirkwall headed for Dawn 365 days of the winter, correct?  365 days of the year?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, Mr. Quinn, we talked about the lack of liquidity and why we would necessarily not want to continue buying a large chunk of gas that was at Niagara to be delivered in.  Those suppliers do want to deliver to Dawn because they want to be able to access that market and sell to not only Union but Enbridge and all the direct purchase customers.  So they're going to look for their best possible option to try and find a -- where they're going to take that gas to.

MR. QUINN:  And sir, I was talking about buying the gas at Dawn.  You've moved back to Niagara again.  In context I was asking about Union buying 150,000 at Dawn from this producer.  That would be available as an option to you, would it not.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But Mr. Quinn, the benefit of going back to the basin is the $588 million and 68 cent benefit of going back to the basin.  So why would I want to give up 68 cents on gas that's worth 3 or $4?

MR. SHORTS:  And again, I'm -- as a gas supply, we RFP our supplies.  I can't guarantee that that supplier is going to win the day and give us the best price at Dawn.

So when we go in to buy the Dawn gas we will RFP that Dawn gas, and potentially, who knows which supplier would win the day?  We won't necessarily say, "Oh, because of this we're going to contract with supplier A exclusively for 150,000 for the next year or so."  We break that up, and we buy monthly -- sometimes annual, but mostly monthly and seasonal.  And they may win the day.  They may not.

MR. QUINN:  When we're asking this question I'm asking about the opportunity.  It's available to Union Gas?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't know.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may already just --


MR. QUINN:  I -- sir, I have respect to the Board's time frame, and I need to move on to -- we've been running the clock here a little bit, and I want to be respectful of other people, so I'm going to move on from this area, because I think it's not helpful.

So I guess the last area I want to talk about is, Union is proposing 150,000 a day -- dekatherms, 158,000 GJs.  Enbridge is marginally less, 110,000 dekatherms.

Did Union, in conjunction with Enbridge on or its own, approach Spectra about the ability to combine with Enbridge to seek anchor shipper status in aggregate?

MR. SHORTS:  No, the open season was quite clear that any parties that were affiliated by ownership could lump their requests together, and that was -- but you will not find that -- typically a pipe producer would allow unaffiliated entities to join together just for the simple reason of the credit issues that would come non -- sort of like non-affiliated corporate entities.

MR. QUINN:  So the answer is no?

MR. SHORTS:  We did not approach them to try and have a joint, because it, A, wasn't part of the open season, as well as, we said it's an unrealistic, I think, approach to assume that you're going to get unaffiliated through corporate ownership entities joining together under an agreement.

MR. QUINN:  You are establishing by your answer that they have to be affiliated inside of the agreement.  That is not the question I asked.  If the quantity of commitment on the pipe in aggregate reaches a certain level, in this case 150,000, each party could have its own contract with NEXUS, but in aggregate they meet anchor shipper status.  Was that question asked?

MR. SHORTS:  We did not ask that question.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I've lost track of myself, have looked at the time, but I'm concluding my questions at this time.  Thank you very much.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I think you were reasonably within your time estimate, Mr. Quinn.  So thank you very much.

Mr. Rubenstein, I think you're up next; is that correct?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I just have a few questions.  Am I correct that by 2017 the NEXUS contract will be the single largest contract in Union's portfolio?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, in our transportation portfolio, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think it would be correct -- and I think we had a discussion, Mr. Shorts, about this during the technical conference -- that it would be the largest contract that Union has had in about 30 years, in the last 30 years, roughly?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, it's somewhat semantics, because if you look at TransCanada contracts, the TransCanada contracts in total certainly in aggregate well exceeded the 30 percent.  You know, back in the '90s, you know, we were upwards of 85 percent contracted with TransCanada.

So if you assumed contracted TCPL capacity, we certainly had much greater than 30 percent on -- contracted with TransCanada during the -- say, for example, the '80s and '90s.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I'm talking with one specific contract, not with one carrier, with one pipeline.

MR. SHORTS:  One specific contract?  This would be the largest one in -- certainly in memory.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, you know, we've talked a lot about -- in many proceedings about the importance of supply diversity.  I want to understand contract diversity and the risks that are involved with having one transportation contract for such a large part of your portfolio.

Can you talk to me about the importance of contract -- in Union's view, the importance of contract diversity?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, I think contract diversity comes hand in hand.  I mean, we have a number of contract in addition to this contract.  So when I look at the contract diversity, this contract at 150,000 provided us with anchor shipper status.  Now, one of the things that the TransCanada contracts differentiate is because they were to different delivery areas.  Over time if we went back to prior to deregulation, we had all of our long-haul contracts basically as one contract with TransCanada.

So, yes, there is contract diversity, but in this case it was a contract that we felt was the right number to get the right value to provide the most favoured nations in the anchor shipper status.  It definitely is a benefit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, historically when you're talking about all the contracts you had with TransCanada, would I be correct that's -- for most of that history that was the only way you could transport the gas from western Canada to Ontario was via the TransCanada Mainline?

MR. SHORTS:  That was the only option to get western Canadian gas into Ontario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me that, on the record at least, we have two pipelines now that are at least in the works, Rover and the NEXUS pipeline, to get Marcellus shale into Ontario?

MR. SHORTS:  It would be Appalachian gas.  Marcellus Utica gas.  There would be those two options, should both get developed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you believe having only one pipeline is the way to transport that gas, provides proper contract diversity.

MR. SHORTS:  You have to back up a little bit, and let’s look back at history.  I mean, when we started negotiating the NEXUS contract, it was shortly after we went into the open season back in 2012.  We were not aware of Rover at all until we were 18 months after negotiation, and well down the road of having a final agreement.

We had also negotiated some very positive terms in that agreement, and if you looked at some of the restrictions on Rover that were being put at us, you needed to go longer term, twenty years, to get a firm negotiated rate.  You couldn't have a most favoured nation clause, unless you actually had a volume that was 500,000, not 150,000.

A lot of those areas, a lot of those cases, we just didn't look at there being any need or necessity to want to go to Rover.  It was already being developed.  It was already going to happen by producers without us participating.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The other thing I would add is the Board does see value in the utility supporting new infrastructure, because of the credit and because of the long-term markets.

So the choice of supporting two projects and kind of having two half bids in two different projects, it makes both weaker than having a solid contribution toward one project that supports it and gets it over the goal line.

So I think the better strategy is to support one project and, as Mr. Shorts pointed out, in 2012 there was only one project, and Rover came in 18 months to two years later.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Putting aside what happened in 2012, I want ask –- help me understand today.  We now know there is Rover and it's actually farther in line farther, farther down the pipe -- farther down the road to actually being constructed than NEXUS.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, based on the announcement last week or the week before, I think there has been some delay within FERC.  So Rover announced that they actually now – they will now likely be later than November 1, 2017.  So I would think NEXUS, at this point, is probably a little further ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't think NEXUS may have similar or other types of delays, as they’ve just filed their FERC application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  NEXUS went down a different path.  They actually did a pre-filing at the beginning of the year, which Rover chose not to do that.  So I think Rover is a bit different path at FERC.  I think NEXUS is in decent shape.

MR. SHORTS:  To add to that, the Rover pipeline has much more infrastructure, new infrastructure.  So that's another reason they could be delayed versus NEXUS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But knowing what we know now with both the pipelines and their potential and service types of the delays they may or may not face, help me understand why it is not more beneficial to a contract on some portion of the capacity from the Appalachian shale on both pipelines than just essentially put it all on one pipeline.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think this goes to my earlier point, in that we can influence -- by having Enbridge and Union Gas contracts approved by the Board, we can actually influence the NEXUS project going forward and influence, I think, indirectly the producers having more confidence in the NEXUS path as well.

So putting all your eggs in the NEXUS basket in this case, I think, is a better thing.  And given Rover came out with enough committed volume to go forward, they weren’t looking strongly for us to endorse their project or be part of the project.

They came and talked to us about it, but they had enough volume already to go forward.  So they weren't strongly looking for our help.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So instead of contracting on both pipelines, why not contract some portion on NEXUS and then purchase more at Dawn that comes from producers on the --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It’s still part of the strategy.  We have 158,000 GJs a day on NEXUS, and we still have 100,000 to 150,000 GJs uncommitted capacity, which could go towards Dawn gas which is supporting any of the supplies coming to Dawn, or it could be a bit more capacity on Rover, or a bit more on Niagara.  We still have those options to determine.

So we're not trying to pick one path necessarily.  We are trying to get all three developed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was some discussion on Friday, and it's in the evidence, and I think you can confirm this, that if the Board does not provide the pre-approval that you're seeking, you will not go forward with the contract as it is today.  Am I correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to confirm that what you're not ruling out is agreeing to some lesser capacity on the NEXUS pipeline.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not given any consideration at all.  I think the question was –- I forget the exact words, but you never say never.  All I know today is we're before the Board with 150,000 dekatherms a day.

Mr. Shorts points out it took us the better part of three years to negotiate that one and for us, it brings important benefits starting in 2017,  So to be stopping progress on this one and moving over to a lesser quantity or different term or whatever else, it's a brand new negotiation, whether it's Rover or whether it's NEXUS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now I want to posit a scenario.  What happens if the Board says, well, "We will pre-approve the cost consequences of an amount less than the 150,000 GJs that you've contracted for"; will you still go ahead with the NEXUS project, with your contract with NEXUS?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The only contract we have with NEXUS is for 150.  So any change in that parameter would take us back to NEXUS to negotiate that.  I don't know the outcome of that, and I don’t know that the benefit to Ontario would be sustained through that or not.

The 158 brings significant benefits to Dawn, to our customers, to electric power customers in Ontario.  It brings significant benefits, and those benefits only happen if the contract is 158.

To change that number would put us back into renegotiating position.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not saying you would need to change how much -- your contract.  What happens if the Board says, well, instead of the whole 158,000 GJs you're seeking pre-approval for, the cost consequences for, we'll only approve 120,000 or 100,000.  Will you go forward with the NEXUS contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have to go back to NEXUS and talk about it, obviously, because the only –- it would kind of have to be at 158.  So if the Board came back and said 120 is a better number, we would have to go back and talk to NEXUS about that, obviously.

We would definitely lose anchor shipper status, but that aside, we would be opening up the contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're talking about reducing your amount and I'm asking a different question.  If the Board says the cost consequences -- we will not approve the full 158,000 but some amount less than that, will you still go forward with the NEXUS contract as you have signed already?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would divide that into saying – from the shareholders’ perspective, the risk is being dealt with on the 120, or whatever the number is the Board decides, but actually puts more risk now on the remaining 30.

If the Board didn’t see a way to approve the last 30, it means that from their perspective, it's probably deemed to be higher risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was a lot of talk about risk on Friday and risk earlier on today, and I believe -- and you can correct me, but I’ve summarized from your view, Mr. Isherwood, that you believe that since gas costs are a flow-through cost, you shouldn't be bearing this risk.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that you're compensated for risks that a utility takes through a return on equity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not gas supply, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is it your view that has supply --you're not compensated at all for any risk on gas supply?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Brett, I think you're up next.  Just before you start, I think our plan is to have a lunch break about 12:30.  So you won’t be finished by then, probably, but maybe you will.

MR. BRETT:  I doubt I'll be finished, but I will try and have tried to sort of reduce the ambit of my -- the number of my questions given the cross-examinations of others, as Mr. Thompson would say.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

I have a few questions to start with on the Niagara option because it's fresh in everyone's mind.  Mr. Shorts, Mr. Isherwood, your evidence is that you began to discuss the NEXUS project with Spectra in late 2012, right?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we entered the open season for the NEXUS project in November 2012.

MR. BRETT:  But you then signed a precedent agreement with NEXUS -- as I understand it, you signed two of them. But you signed one in June of 2014, the first one?

MR. SHORTS:  The first one we signed was actually -- we had negotiated and had pretty much all of the particulars nailed down by February 2014.  But it took us until August of 2014 to actually cross the Ts and dot the Is, and actually sign it.

MR. BRETT:  That's what I thought.  And is that what you call your restated contract, or is that a subsequent one?

MR. SHORTS:  That was the original one.  The restated one happened in May 2015, just before we filed this application.

MR. BRETT:  And just remind me, what was different in the restated one?  Was that just how you would take the last piece of the --


MR. SHORTS:  Well, there were three – I would say three primary changes on the restated one.  Number one, we eliminated phase one, which was a bridging mechanism.  We eliminated that.  Two was the negotiated rate and the change in the path.  So we actually were able to come to agreement on the 77 cents and the path to St. Clair.  So those are primarily the three main changes from the original.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So you had a period there from the time that you entered into the contract.  Sorry, from the time that you responded to the open season of Spectra through until August of 2014, that was a fairly lengthy period.

My question is, my understanding is that there were a number of -- let me put the question this way.  Did you seek during that period to -- did you consider entering into any of the open seasons that TransCanada had for capacity on the Niagara line over that period?  The question, as I under -- did you do any -- did you look at those, over the -- I mean, you said I think you were negotiating this thing for about a year and a half, but you hadn't committed yet.  You hadn't signed a contract until mid-2014 with Spectra.  In the interim did you look at any of -- did you look at those TransCanada open seasons and consider going in them?

MR. SHORTS:  We looked at them, we considered them, but we did not go in those open seasons for a number of the scenarios we had already talked about:  The lack of liquidity, the very few sellers, buyers, the lack of price transparency that we have seen.  We chose not to go into those open seasons, and we chose to forecast and focus our efforts on ensuring the NEXUS path would also be developed in addition to Niagara.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And around the same time -- and I won't go into this in great detail, but I think you say that in June of 2014 the Rover project was announced.  Now, I take it with -- that you and/or Spectra, would you have had some knowledge that that project was coming before it was publicly announced?  I mean, the big pipeline business is a pretty small communities.

MR. SHORTS:  We had no knowledge of that pipeline prior to when it was basically announced.  Rover came in to disclose of it, and at that time, as Mr. Isherwood said, that was in that June of 2014 time period.  That was the first we had heard about the Rover project specifically from somebody from Rover.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  We knew nothing about any other project that was being out proposed at the time.  There was no inkling of another project.  There's all kinds of projects that come on and off the scene as time goes on.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  But we had never had any knowledge of Rover up until the point in time when they came in that morning and actually informed us that the project was going ahead without the need for our support, but that we should know about it.

MR. BRETT:  Let me ask you this.  Would -- and Spectra didn't tell you anything about the Rover project?

MR. SHORTS:  Had no inclination of the Rover project.

MR. BRETT:  You don't think they had any inclination of it?

MR. SHORTS:  I have no idea.

MR. BRETT:  Well, then when you heard finally -- when you had the presentation did you consider the merits of maybe dividing up your commitment partly to -- maintaining part with NEXUS, but doing part on Rover?

MR. SHORTS:  No, we did not, because -- for the reason I mentioned before.  Why would you remove or lessen your commitment to a project that needed your support and move it to one that already said they didn't need your support to go forward?  So we really wanted both NEXUS and Rover at that point in time to go forward and be successful.  More gas that arrives at Dawn, more suppliers, the better it will be for everybody.

MR. BRETT:  So when Rover came in to see you, they said, "Here's our deal, but we don't need you on to make this go."

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  But on the other hand, Spectra is your parent company; right?

MR. SHORTS:  Spectra is our parent company, yes.

MR. BRETT:  They own 100 percent of Union.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  They appoint your Board with the exception that -- well, they appoint your Board with the exception of the one-third of independent directors that are required to be there, and I guess they probably appoint them as well, right?

MR. SHORTS:  You're way beyond me, Mr. Brett, as far as what the --


MR. BRETT:  It's just a simple business.  If they own 100 -- it's not -- nothing fancy legal here.  If they own 100 percent of your stock they're going to appoint your Board.

MR. SHORTS:  Taken.

MR. BRETT:  And it would have been I -- guess my question is, do you agree with me that it would have looked very strange for Spectra to have a project in the United States starting off in Kensington if their 100 percent-owned subsidiary in Canada and was not part of that?  It would not have helped the credibility of that project.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SHORTS:  You have to remember, it's not just a Spectra project.  I mean, it's a 50/50 project between DTE and Spectra.

MR. BRETT:  I understand, but there's a lot of money that's going in there on Spectra's side, and Spectra's a major pipeline, much more major than DTE.  Would you agree?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, there is an actual table that shows the comparison between Spectra and DTE.  There's not that much difference.  I was surprised by that as well.

MR. BRETT:  Well, I guess my question is, is it would have -- I mean, you've made a couple comments, but I ask my question again.  It would have looked very strange for Spectra to have launched a project, even as a 50 percent owner, if they're a 100 percent-owned Canadian subsidiary which was in that area in the midwest and always looking for gas at Dawn had not been a part of that project.  That would have been very odd.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But Mr. Brett, I think you need to also look at our perspective in 2012 when Marcellus was just starting to ramp up, and there was some discussion of Utica ramping up in the near-term as well, but as I said earlier, 2012, Utica was barely producing anything, but projected to get into a large -- a large size market and a supply market.

So from our perspective, it was about getting Dawn connected to that point. Dawn is a liquid hub that's been recognized by the Board and others, how important Dawn is to Ontario and the eastern markets.

With western Canadian supply reaching Dawn has been in decline for some time, because of the TCPL unloading, for us it's very important to get more supply coming to Dawn.  We knew Niagara was starting to come in in 2012.  That was a great start.  But from a strategic, visionary point of view, we thought it was really important to get a line directly connected between Marcellus/Utica and Dawn.  So our incentive in 2012 was to get into the open season to the best of our ability, which is a 150 dekatherms per day, and to provide that access to Dawn --


MR. BRETT:  Over that period of time, Mr. Isherwood, 2012 to 2014, as you've stated, and as every consultant known to man has stated, the production at Marcellus and Utica, particularly Marcellus, more latterly Utica, has risen exponentially; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  It's huge now.  Now -- so there's a lot of new gas, and a lot of it, as you've pointed out, is coming into Canada at Niagara already, right, has been -- you've been contracted to come into Canada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Niagara has been really in development of existing infrastructure, and it is -- that would -- so that will obviously develop first and is now fully developed in terms of 1.2 PJs a day.  So having NEXUS's and Rover just really the new incremental infrastructure to connect Ontario to Marcellus and Utica.

MR. BRETT:  The point I'm making really I guess is just, the question really is that you've already got significant Marcellus and Utica gas coming into Ontario, so it's not a new gas field, is it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Utica --


MR. BRETT:  Even in 2012 it wasn't a new gas field.  It was a new gas field in 2009, was it not, but not in 2012, wouldn't you agree?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in 2010 or maybe end of 2010, 2011, it was around a PJ a day or BCF a day.  So that was in infancy.  Today is at 20 BCF a day and going towards 40.

But my distinction here is Marcellus is still at 20 today, going to 40, so still growing rapidly, as you said, exponentially.  But Utica, when we did go in the open season in 2012, it was a brand-new field.  It barely had -- it had a few wells drilled.  It had a little tiny bit of volume flowing.  So Utica is a new field.

MR. SHORTS:  And just to add to that, Mr. Brett, when you look it at some of the Utica performance in the last year --


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MR. SHORTS:  -- it's the highest for percentage basis increase.  It's the highest basin as far as production increase on a percentage basis.

MR. BRETT:  Well, let me --


MR. SHORTS:  A couple of producers that have drilled some wells, EQT and Rice, they have produced record-breaking wells within their portfolio.  These are the -- and this was new.  Like, they did not know it was going to happen.  It's a new area, and they're learning as they go.  And so far the results have been well exceeding what their expectations were.

MR. BRETT:  I take it your gas is coming from both the Marcellus and Utica basis, is it not?  My understanding -- let me, I guess I should finish the question.

My understanding is geographically, while they are not identical profiles, there is a huge amount of overlap, right?  And the Utica basin is below -- deeper than the Marcellus basin, for the most part.

MR. SHORTS:  Where Kensington is, specifically.  So for example, there's three interconnects where NEXUS starts.  There’s the Kensington processing plant, there’s Tennessee gas pipelines, and there’s Texas eastern gas pipelines.

Between the three of them, they provide 3 BCF a day, roughly, of capacity.  But the Kensington plant is predominately there for Utica supply.

So what you're finding is that at Kensington itself, that is where you're going to have -- in the in heart of the Utica production area, that's where Kensington is located.  And where NEXUS refined –- started the pipe over the first few months of the open season.

After they had the open season, if you’ll recall, there was original graphs where they didn't know it was going to start.  And in discussions with producers and trying to find the best place to start the pipe that would draw in the most supply, they chose Kensington and it's becoming more and more looking as an attractive place to buy gas at.

MR. BRETT:  Now, you've contracted, as I understand it, for 20,000 GJs a day of gas, starting November 1st of this year at Dominion south, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.  On a pilot project, we’ve got 21,000 GJs a day at the Dominion south point.

MR. BRETT:  Dominion south is in the Marcellus shale?

MR. SHORTS:  It is, yes.

MR. BRETT:  So you're taking gas from both the Marcellus shale and the Utica shale?

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, absolutely.  Even when I was mentioning before -- when you look at the Tennessee gas pipeline interconnect and the Texas eastern, they would have access to Marcellus as well as Utica.

I just want to make the distinction that the Kensington processing plant is in the heart of the Utica production area.

MR. BRETT:  Now, the maps that you show –- that we looked at yesterday -- and I don't think I need to have you turn them up – but they showed a line going down –- well, let me back up half a step.

Spectra owns Texas eastern transmission, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  A hundred percent?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And Texas eastern transmission is a line that, in broad strokes, runs from Texas and in the Gulf up into New York, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Up into the Boston-New York area.

MR. BRETT:  Now, those maps we looked at yesterday showed a line from the Kensington plant down to Texas eastern, south down to Texas eastern, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's a brand new line.

MR. BRETT:  Is that line part of the NEXUS project?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is not.

MR. BRETT:  It’s not.  So not a dollar of NEXUS is going into that line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But it's a key part of the project in terms of similar supply can come in that direction to Kensington to feed into NEXUS.  But it’s a different ownership.

MR. SHORTS:  Just to be clear, Mr. Brett, when you look at that new pipeline, NEXUS has also taken out capacity on the reversal of that pipeline to provide potential shippers with access to where it connects at Clarington.

MR. BRETT:  Is the NEXUS line reversible itself?  Could it be picking up gas west of Kensington and moving it back through Kensington, down to Texas Eastern or to Tennessee for delivery into New York?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the physical nature, but I do know that they have contracted for up to 950,000 dekatherms a day to go from Kensington down to Clarington.

MR. BRETT:  Who has contracted to that?  Spectra?

MR. SHORTS:  NEXUS has, to make that path available for other shippers.  So shippers could actually contract at Clarington, and bring that gas up to Kensington.

MR. BRETT:  NEXUS –- sorry, I just want to get this straight, because I think TransCanada asked –- well, I don't know who asked him, but I want to get it straight in my own mind.

NEXUS, as an entity, has contracted for capacity on that Clarington line, 900,000 GJs a day?

MR. SHORTS:  They have contracted on the open line, which runs from Clarington up to Kensington.  The have contracted for up to 950,000 a day.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, but going from Kensington to Texas Eastern, or the reverse, or both?

MR. SHORTS:  No, so -- let me rephrase that.  The open capacity was originally designed to bring capacity from Kensington area down to Texas Eastern.  And NEXUS has contracted on the bi-directional portion of that for 950,000 for people to go from Clarington up to Kensington, if they so chose to.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  To be clear, the project --

MS. SPOEL:  Could we bring up the map?  Because it may be that Mr. Brett has a map in his head, and you have the map in your heads, but we don't have the map in front of us.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I should have done that.

MS. SPOEL:  You're talking about up and down, and it would be really helpful to have the map on the screen, if someone could bring it up.

MR. BRETT:  The map I’m talking about -– sorry, let me just –- the map that was in Board Staff’s compendium.

MS. SPOEL:  Is it in Exhibit K1.1, the map --

MR. BRETT:  Yes, tab 4, I believe, or tab 5, somewhere in there.

MS. SPOEL:  We have a paper copy, sorry.

MR. BRETT:  Tab 5 is a very good one.  It's also in the presentation -- I'm sorry.  Here we go.

So what we've been talking about is the -- I'm going to ask this as a question, gentlemen.

The line we’re talking about the line, the solid red line –-

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Brett, just a moment.

MR. GILLETT:  If you go to the original project slide at the beginning of the presentation, it might be a better one to explain it.

MR. BRETT:  That's not too helpful; it doesn't show any line.  I think you go back to the previous line --

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Tab 4 of the OEB compendium I think is good one.  It's fairly clear.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, okay.  So that shows what -- Mr. Isherwood and Mr. Shorts, that red line we were just talking about is the line that is – sorry, the line you were just talking about is the red line with the yellow aura about it, that runs from Kensington to Clarington, is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  That line was initially built to take gas from Kensington down to the Texas eastern system.  It was called the open project, and when it was first built, that was envisioned to take supply from Utica into Texas eastern, and has since had a project to be able to reverse gas in both directions.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So I think going back to my question -- I don't know if this is my last question, but essentially, that would give NEXUS the ability to move gas from the area to the left of Kensington down through Kensington to Clarington in future?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the pipeline going from Clarington to Kensington, that path which is the reversal of the pipeline, NEXUS has capacity on that path from Clarington to Kensington, the idea being their shippers could use that capacity to access gas at Clarington, which is a very liquid point, move to Kensington and then on to the NEXUS path to Dawn.

That pipeline, as I mentioned, was built initially to go in the other direction.

MR. BRETT:  Who owns that pipeline now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Texas Eastern owns that pipeline.

MR. BRETT:  Texas Eastern?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Texas Eastern owns that pipeline, which is Spectra.  Any capacity sold going from Kensington to Clarington would be sold by Texas Eastern, not by NEXUS.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  But in terms of physical controls -- but again, Spectra owns Texas Eastern, a hundred percent of the stock?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.

MR. BRETT:  So they run the show ultimately, do they not?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They own the asset, that’s right.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, let me just go back and regroup here a little bit.

I wanted to speak for a moment on the relative economics, and I don't think this has to be too difficult because I think you discussed this earlier this morning.  You discussed it with Mr. Quinn, and you were looking at page 7 of his compendium.

I don't want to take you through each line again, I just want to see if I can summarize the conclusion we came to.  I think Mr. Shorts made the point that the path from  -- this is landed cost analysis, and the conclusion, I think -- the point that you agreed with, Mr. Shorts, was that the cost of bringing gas to the Dawn Kirkwall –- landing gas from Marcellus at Kirkwall was, via the Niagara line, 6.51 a GJ, and landing gas at Dawn from NEXUS was 6.70.

So if you assumed the reference case, and if you assumed the high end of the 15 percent tracker, it would be 6.82; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, Mr. Brett.  Which landed cost analysis are you referring to?

MR. BRETT:  I thought I just said that.  I'm looking at the landed cost analysis that was in Mr. Quinn's compendium at page 7.  It was an update that you did, I think, for LPMA to redo your original landed cost analysis with a more current exchange rate' right?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct.  But the numbers you were quoting, we just couldn't get them to match the table, so I wasn't sure which --


MR. BRETT:  Well --


MR. SHORTS:  Because if you look at -- if you look at the top, it's showing --


MR. BRETT:  Just a second.  Before you get into this  -- just a second, please.  Because these numbers are too small for --


MS. SPOEL:  I think they're stretching them on the screen, Mr. Brett.  You might be able to see them better.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So we're looking at 901; is that it?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  They're -- that one --


MR. BRETT:  Are you with me?

MR. GILLETT:  -- matches --


MR. BRETT:  All right.  So 901 is Niagara to Kirkwall, and looking down to NEXUS St. Clair it's 934, right?

MR. SHORTS:  936.

MR. BRETT:  936?  And that's the base case, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the plus -- the tracker -- sort of the outside price based on the tracker is 948, right?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So what I'm -- what we're saying here, I take it, is that you, in opting for NEXUS to Dawn rather than the Niagara, notwithstanding the fact you may have -- and you've expressed a number of reasons why you did this -- you still are using a more costly route, right?

MR. SHORTS:  As a reasonableness check that's what this has showed, but I tried to explain earlier today why they're -- you can't just take what the landed cost analysis says at face value, and you have to look at the underlying factors, as well as bring in the qualitative factors in regards to the inability -- or the difficulty, I should say, of buying gas at Niagara that we have discussed in many times.

MR. BRETT:  I understand that.  And I understand -- I'm not trying to diminish any of these other arguments.  I'm simply focusing on the -- for the moment on the economics of it, on the -- and what this tells me -- and I would think it would tell you -- is that the route you've chosen, regardless of other benefits, is a more costly route than you might have chosen?

MR. SHORTS:  The route we chose was to ensure that there was significant infrastructure that was going to be built to bring incremental new gas into Dawn.  We knew that Niagara wasn't going to be doing that because it was strictly basically being a repurposing of existing infrastructure and wouldn't require our commitment --


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, maybe I misunderstood you.  Are you suggesting that Niagara, together with the expansions that we know TransCanada has made, together with the expansions that we know were made in northeastern and northwestern New York to bring gas up from Marcellus, are you saying those are repurposing?  Those are new capacity, are they not?

MR. SHORTS:  It's a combination, but if you recall, that capacity was 1.2 leaving Canada, going through, so if you look at just the TransCanada from Niagara forward to Kirkwall, that capacity of that system was 1.2 going west to east.  It is now 1.2 going east to west.

MR. BRETT:  I understand that.  I mean --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But Mr. Brett, I also go to the -- the Board's decision on our application to get the 21,000 pre-approved, the Board's conclusion was it was not new infrastructure, it was just repurposing existing infrastructure, and I would agree with that.  The New York pipelines and the TransCanada pipelines were basically just reversing flow, which is a pretty simple thing to do --


MR. BRETT:  The Board said that was not a new -- it was not new gas, as I recall.  They didn't --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Or new facilities.

MR. BRETT:  Not -- it wasn't a new -- it wasn't a new basin at that point.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It said both.

MR. BRETT:  Let me -- you mentioned -- with that background you had mentioned earlier in your conversation with Mr. -- with Michael from Board Staff that you were going to act -- you were going to act as if, I think were your words, you were going to act as if you were an affiliate, right?  You were going to abide by the ARC, effectively?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I said we were prepared to act as if it was an affiliate under the ARC, and I think Mr. Millar was questioning whether we needed to or not.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, and the ARC -- one of the sections of the ARC has to do with contracting with affiliates, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't have it in front of me, Mr. Brett, but I believe that's true.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, basically let me paraphrase something, and if I haven't paraphrased it correctly in my question then somebody can correct me.  But basically, as I understand, the ARC says if a utility contracts with an affiliate it has to -- and there is a market for the service it's contracting for, it has to pay the market price.  Does that sound reasonable?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think if you want to point to a section and quote the section in the ARC, it would be helpful, I think.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  It's 2.3.4.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah.  From a legal perspective I would agree that it does say the utility shall pay no more than the market price when acquiring a service or product, et cetera.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  And my -- is not the market price for this service -- first of all, there is a market, is there not?  You were facing a market for transportation service, and assuming for the moment that you were, is not the market for that service the Niagara price, or certainly a price, an important price, in the market.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say the market price is on the same NEXUS path, and it is a comparison to other shippers, what they're paying.  The path -- you have to look at the path very specific to what NEXUS is doing, and are we paying less or more than other shippers?  We're paying the same as other shippers, essentially --


MR. BRETT:  But don't you have to look at the landed cost into your franchise?  Doesn't necessarily have to be the exact path, does it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think if you're talking in terms of our affiliation with Spectra, it should be on the path.

MR. BRETT:  Well, that's an interpretation, but the other piece of it, just for completeness, is -- well, let me ask you this.  You do agree there is a market, though.  You were looking at a market.  There is a market for transportation services there?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So essentially the regulated service, we have a negotiated rate within that umbrella of being a regulated service.

MR. BRETT:  The second part of that test -- and that is set out at 2.3.12 -- is that if you -- if -- if the utility is buying in a situation where there is no market, it has to ensure that the return on equity of the person it's buying from is not any higher than its return on equity.

Do you have an -- do you know what the return or proposed return on equity of the Spectra pipeline is?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Brett, which -- where are you now in the ARC?

MR. BRETT:  2.3.12.  It's on page 10.  Sorry, 2.3.10, my mistake if I said something -- I think I read 10 as one-two.  I meant 2.3.10.  And it's what governs the situation where you don't have a market.

And would you agree with me that it would be -- you may not know this, but would you agree with me that it's likely -- may not -- it's likely that Spectra's return on equity on the NEXUS pipeline is greater than your return on distribution?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think when dealing with 2.3.10, Mr. Brett, I would say when NEXUS applies to FERC, which they will do this week or next week, they will be asking for a recourse rate as well.  That will be part of the outcome of this hearing they have with FERC.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And our understanding is the negotiated rate will be equal to or less than the recourse rate, and if it's not, we have the choice of taking the recourse rate.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So in a regulated environment the market, I think, is a recourse rate.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I believe we will be paying less than the recourse rate.

MR. BRETT:  That doesn't answer my question about return on capital.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea what --


MR. BRETT:  The question is what is the return on capital at the recourse --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no idea.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, perhaps -- has NEXUS filed at FERC now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The hearing is a week or so away.  It's end of this month.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  All right.

All right.  This might be a time to break, if I could.  And I have just a few questions after.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Okay.  That's fine.  We'll resume at 1:30.  And the panel is able to sit today until five o'clock if that's helpful in terms of getting through more of the evidence.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:23 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair, panel.  Over the lunch hour, I looked through my questions and decided that they had been adequately dealt with.  So I think those are all my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Is there any other party who was intending to cross-examine the Union panel?  All right.

So, Mr. Keizer, do you have any re-examination -- or I guess we should ask does the Panel have questions they want to ask.  Ms. Duff?
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:   I have two quick questions.  Just in terms of the quantity that you're contracting for, just about a month ago we sat in this hearing room at the DSM proceeding with two of the same witnesses.

I just wanted to know have you considered demand side management, and the decrease of the demand for natural gas in your system, and how that affects your consideration of how much you're contracting for, if at all.

MR. SHORTS:  Given the fact that we have the extra 100 to 150 that we have not made any commitments for, that's where we would predominantly see flexibility to be able to handle any DSM reductions going forward.

MS. DUFF:   In terms of cap and trade, is that the same answer for that?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, the cap and trade is a little early.  We don't know exactly all the regulations how it's going to impacted it.  But that again would be a place we would first look to to create some space for any reduction in demands.

MS. DUFF:   Of the extra 100, do you think both those items can be accommodated within that uncommitted supply?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am just going to add that the 150 of NEXUS is about one-third of our overall systems capability requirement, so we have two-thirds still that is on short-term or uncommitted.

So we have two-thirds to deal with both cap and trade and DSM, if need be.

MS. SPOEL:  I have a couple of questions, and may display some ignorance about gas purchasing.  But since you're experts on that and I'm not, I'll go ahead and ask.

You made quite a bit, I think, Mr. Isherwood, of the desire to be able to purchase gas directly from producers, I guess basically at Kensington or Clarington, or those points, and then have the transportation arrangements to bring it to Dawn, and that that would get a better price overall for Union's customers.

I just wondered why you could get a better price buying from the producers directly than if other shippers were to buy from those same producers and ship it to Dawn.  How does Union have an advantage price-wise buying directly from the producers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The market called Dominion Southpoint is another liquid market in Marcellus area, and it is priced based on the supply situation in the Marcellus region.

So there’s lots of gas in Marcellus, so the price is, like I say, slightly depressed because there is gas-on-gas competition.  So our choice is to buy gas in that environment, where the price of gas is, you could say, lower than it would normally be because of gas-on-gas Competition, because of such a robust supply.

If you take that cheaper gas at Dominion Southpoint and pay the toll to get it to Dawn, it actually gets to Dawn cheaper than us going out to buy gas at Dawn.

So the option would be that the producer could take capacity at NEXUS as well, and some are; there’s three producers doing that.

But the reason the producer will do that is because they can take their gas at Dominion Southpoint basically, ship it to Dawn and get a higher price for their gas having incorporated the cost of transport.

MS. SPOEL:  Do you expect that situation of a perhaps excess supply at -- is it Dominion Southpoint, that that will persist, or will that price end up as the market develops and there is more transportation capacity generally out of that area, that it will be more directly competitive with the prices of Chicago or at Dawn, and that that advantage will -- like do you expect that advantage to persist for the full 15 years of these contracts?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have done some work with ICF and Sussex.  Sussex, when they testify on Tuesday, can address this as well.

But between the Sussex study, which confirms the same thing, but ICF has done some work using their modeling of supply and demand, and their models would suggest that over the whole term of the contract, there will be supply growth and that Dominion Southpoint will be priced at an advantageous price relative to Dawn.

So we'll be able to continue to land gas at Dawn through the term of the contract.  That’s the conclusion of ICF as well.

MS. SPOEL:  The other question I have is a simple one.  You talked about the advantages of having an anchor shipper status by taking 150 dekatherms, or whatever it is.  What's the benefit of having anchor shipper status?

MR. SHORTS:  Being an anchor shipper status on NEXUS, we get most favoured nation.  So if any other shipper contracts for a better rate on a similar path we're on, then we would automatically get that rate.

As well, we have seen our rate is one and a half cents lower on that front greenfield piece than Enbridge’s is, because they are not an anchor shipper.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.  Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  We have no redirect.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  In that case, this panel is excused with our thanks, and I think the Enbridge witness panel is up next.  Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Good afternoon, Panel.  I would like to begin by introducing the witness panel.

Closest to you is Jamie LeBlanc, who you have already met.  He is the director, energy supply and policy, with Enbridge.

With Jamie is Andrew Welburn.  Andrew is manager, gas supply and strategy with Enbridge, and their CVs are filed with Enbridge's pre-filed materials at the end of the binder.
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Jamie LeBlanc, Affirmed


Andrew Welburn, Affirmed


MR. STEVENS:  I just have very brief questions for each of the witnesses, starting with you, Mr. LeBlanc.

Was the evidence filed in this proceeding by Enbridge including the answers to interrogatories prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, it was.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of your testimony here?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEVENS:  And Mr. Welburn, was the evidence prepared in this proceeding and filed by Enbridge, including the answers to interrogatories, prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, it was.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of your testimony?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Panel, I have no formal examination-in-chief, so we're ready for cross-examination.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Mr. Millar?  Mr. Richler?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Richler:

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, Mr. LeBlanc, Mr. Welburn.  My name is Ian Richler.  I am co-counsel for OEB staff.  Do you have a copy of the compendium we prepared?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, we do.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, this is a compendium of documents we may be referring to during this cross-examination.  It doesn't contain anything that isn't already on the record in this proceeding, and it was circulated to Enbridge and the other parties on Friday afternoon.  I would propose that we mark this as an exhibit.  Exhibit K2.3.
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MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Richler, can you try and just sit a little bit closer to your microphone, because you are very soft-spoken, and it's a little bit hard...

MR. RICHLER:  Sure.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  I would like to start by clarifying exactly what cost consequences Enbridge is seeking pre-approval for.

First of all, I understand that Enbridge's proposed arrangement with NEXUS would commit Enbridge to buying 110,000 DTH per day of capacity on the NEXUS pipeline with an option to increase to 150,000 DTH, but in this application you've been quite clear that you're only seeking pre-approval for the 110,000 DTH, not the 150,000, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And the cost consequences associated with the 110 DTH per day would be what, exactly?  Enbridge's shipping costs paid to the NEXUS pipeline for the duration of the 15-year contract?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that's correct.  I believe the number is somewhere around 420 million U.S. dollars.

MR. RICHLER:  Right.  Or 28 million U.S. per year, I saw in your application.

MR. LeBLANC:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you please turn to tab 1 in Staff's compendium, which was the presentation that was given jointly by Enbridge and Union on the first day of this hearing.  On page 6 is a map labelled "NEXUS route to Dawn".  Do you see that?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I have it.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you confirm that Enbridge is seeking pre-approval of the cost consequences of the NEXUS contract for the entire path between Kensington to Vector at the Milford junction?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that is the contracted path that we have with the NEXUS pipeline, and it entails, yes, from Kensington to the Milford junction interconnect with Vector.

MR. RICHLER:  And only a portion of this path is greenfield pipeline from Kensington to Willow Run, and from Willow Run to Milford as existing DTE pipeline; right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.  Both are required in order to provide the service that we've contracted for.

MR. RICHLER:  So is that why you say it would be consistent with the OEB's pre-approval guidelines for the OEB to pre-approve costs related to an existing pipeline?

MR. LeBLANC:  I guess in my mind it's a reasonableness thing.  I don't know what the cut-off is, but definitely the majority of the contract both in path length and in terms of dollars, by far majority is greenfield, and -- but we believe because the entire path is required that it is consistent with the Board's guidelines to ask for pre-approval of the path.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you happen to know in percentage terms how much is greenfield and how much is not, roughly?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't know the mileage, but I can give you rate-wise, because our -- you know, the calculation of the capital cost tracker -- the cost tracker is only on the greenfield portion.  So I think -- I won't turn you exactly to the point, but it is our evidence that the entire toll is 70 cents U.S. per dekatherm per day.  65 cents of that 70 is related to the greenfield portion, and the remaining 5 cents would be the rest.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  In Enbridge's precedent agreement there is a condition precedent saying in effect Enbridge does not have to proceed with the deal unless it obtains pre-approval for the cost consequences from the OEB, correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's paraphrased, but essentially yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Am I correct that this condition precedent was inserted for the benefit of Enbridge and Enbridge has the right to waive the condition?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think the wording is something to the effect that Enbridge has the right in its sole discretion to determine if any decision given by the Board is acceptable to it and allows it to waive the condition, something to that effect.

MR. RICHLER:  So even if Enbridge did not obtain pre-approval in this proceeding, it could still choose to proceed with the deal on exactly the same terms that have been negotiated, same volumes of gas, same 15-year period, same price, et cetera; is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think it could.  I guess I would reserve the opportunity to see the decision exactly how it was -- you know, what the -- not the terms, but the details of that decision to decide whether or not we would or not.  But we do have that option to proceed to waive the CP, correct.

MR. RICHLER:  So I think you sort of anticipated my next question, but is it Enbridge's position that it would not proceed with the deal unless it gets pre-approval for the cost consequences?

MR. LeBLANC:  All that has been discussed with, you know, my boss and higher management is a strict go or no-go.  But I obviously would take whatever decision was given and certainly discuss that, and we would have to make an assessment as to whether we move forward or not.  I don't know if I answered your question.  I hope I did.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  I want to understand why Enbridge wouldn't just proceed with the deal even if it does not get pre-approval here.  What is the risk exactly that pre-approval would protect Enbridge against?  Is it the risk that the Board in a future rates case would disallow Enbridge's NEXUS-related costs on the basis that they were not prudently incurred?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think that's a risk, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Is it the main risk that you're trying to protect yourself against by coming here?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think what we're here to do is, you know, the Board I think in its criteria anticipated that there would be situations where long-term contracts might be required to support infrastructure and that utilities may not be willing to take on the risk of -- and the cost consequences of those contracts, and I think, you know, it's connected to -- I think Mark and others talked about it this morning, about, there is no return or benefit to shareholders from the gas supply plan, so the idea of us taking on the risk of what I think is a very large, unusual contract to a new basin that we've never contracted before and I would say is outside of our normal day-to-day contracting, I think it's fair -- you know, the Board anticipated that type of situation, and I think this is one of those situations.

And I would just point out, I don't know if -- we've talked a lot about risks, and I think that's part of this equation.

I also would like to talk about, because I don't think I've heard it, and I want the Board to understand a bit of this a little better, really the benefits of NEXUS, and then who those benefits accrue to, I guess, to use an accounting term.  That's my background, so to use an accounting term, but the benefits of NEXUS are many.  This is a new and direct access to a very new basin that's being developed.

Utica -- this pipe will get us access -- don't get me wrong, it will get us access to both Utica and Marcellus, but it’s targeted towards Utica gas.

You can see it, if you care to look, in some of the presentations that were filed in response to TransCanada interrogatories.  They asked for the various presentations that NEXUS did along the way to us, and it's clear in those presentations that Utica is a developing basin and it's clear that was the target of the pipe.

So it gets us access to a new and rapidly growing gas basin.  I will tell you about -- at a really high level, the way I look at this project and the others is Ontario right now has one real access to sort of the Marcellus- Utica basin and it's through Niagara.  And I think we've talked about 1.2 or 1.3 BCF a day.

And I guess I would ask the Board if that is truly what enough access is.  Is that really what is best for Ontario and for our customers, Union's customers, gas or power customers.  And what this project and the Rover  project does is provides diversity of path within -- into the basin and provides more access to the basin.

This is going to be -- or already is, I think, one of the largest basins in North America, one of the most important basins in North America.  How much access does Ontario want for that basin and I think -- my opinion is today I would like to see -- obviously Niagara has been built.  I would like to see both Rover and NEXUS get built.

I think that that capacity and access for Ontario is more proportionate to the size and the proximity of this basin.  This thing is across the lake.  It's the shortest path.  That transportation over time should be the cheapest transportation to move gas.  When you have new projects, okay, the costs might be a little higher because it's based on today's dollar.

But if you look it on the map compared to where we've traditionally got most of our gas out west, we're much closer.  This basin is going to be bigger than WCSB, and I think it's important Ontario gets adequate access to it.

Also we've shown that through our landed costs and other landed costs that it is a relatively competitive price landed cost.  I’m not saying it's the cheapest.  It depends on whose forecast you like, and forecasts are forecasts.

But it is -- I think those forecasts, those long range -– sorry, landed cost analysis are really meant to show relative competitiveness.  I think this path is relatively competitive to the other options in the market.

The other thing this does is it provides Enbridge ratepayers access -- I'm sorry I am going on a bit, but I really think we've totally missed the boat so far in terms of discussing some of the benefits, and I want to make sure they're heard.

This pipe and Rover provides access to new suppliers, new path, new volumes, all of which is important to the liquidity of Dawn and to the liquidity of gas for ratepayers.

And we've negotiated –- finally, I guess I would say, we negotiated an agreement with NEXUS that is one of the most favourable precedent agreements that I've been involved with for ratepayers, in terms of -- if you compare it to other precedent agreements that I've been involved in, it is fairly favourable and we got those favourable terms because we’re important to the project.  So I think it is a good deal for ratepayers.

I wanted to get those benefits out and now, because I've gone on too long, I've forgotten your specific question, I’m sorry.

MS. LONG:  Maybe I can just interject for a minute here.  You’ve given us a good overview of what you view the benefits as being.  But can I ask you this question:  Does it matter to the Board?  There may be benefits, but we're confined by the guidelines that we see before us.

So how do those match up?  What is Enbridge's position with respect to how you fall within the ambit of what we must decide?

MR. LeBLANC:  So the --

MS. LONG:  The guidelines are very specific in when we shall grant pre-approval.

MR. LeBLANC:  Right, and it's so -- as I understand them, and maybe you can -- if there are specific ones you want to have something on, please feel free.

But as I understand them, the Board saw the need for pre-approval potentially in the case of new assets to develop new gas supply supplies.  And I think both those boxes are there, tick, tick; both of those for sure.

Like I said earlier, Utica is brand new.  I can turn up, if you’d like, just a couple of excerpts from some of the presentations that shows you that at the time we bid into this Utica, they were literally drilling test wells, trying to figure out where the best -- what they call the sweet spot of where they were going to drill.  And that's ultimately sort of in the area of where Kensington -- the beginning of the pipe was put.  So it's definitely new supply and it's definitely new pipe, and I think our participation is certainly important to making sure that the NEXUS project goes forward.

So those are at the high level.  I'm not sure there are others specific that you were asking about.  But I believe this does fall under those guidelines.

MS. LONG:  I'll let Mr. Richler continue with his cross-examination.  I’m sure this is something we’ll discuss further.

MR. RICHLER:  That was a helpful overview.  But just to go back to my question, I think what I was really looking for is an explanation of why Enbridge wouldn't just proceed with this deal, even if it didn't get pre-approval?

What is the risk that you're so concerned about?  Is it that $420 million U.S. would be disallowed in future rates cases?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think that it might be remote, but yes all or some of that $420 million could be disallowed.  What amount, I think -- you know, it’s hard to say what circumstance might lead to what number that could be disallowed.

But I think in evidence we talked a bit about the materiality of this contract and, you know, we view it as material in relation to utility net earnings -- I don't know if that's the exact regulatory term, but basically what we earn on the utility.  And I believe the annual 28 million is somewhere in the order of 10 or 11 percent, subject to check, of our utility earnings.

An I discussed, I believe, in the IR as well that –- I mean, it's possible that we would have a disallowance of some portion of the $28 million in any particular year, and I think, in a number of circumstances, a disallowance of some portion of that 28 million in one year will likely mean a disallowance of a similar amount each and every year.  And when you start to add that up -- whatever number you pick, when you start to add that up, it becomes material.

And I’ve pointed out the benefits of the pipe to ratepayers, because I think that's the reason for us asking to -- for pre-approval of the costs, because all that benefit is going to accrue to ratepayers, and therefore, so should the cost consequences of the project.

MR. RICHLER:  Enbridge was asked in the technical conference if it was aware of any cases where the Board had disallowed the entire cost of a long-term contract, and Enbridge was not aware of any, although it did note that a relatively small portion of its cost for Alliance Vector contract were disallowed back in 2002.

My question is now is, realistically, what portion of the 120 million in NEXUS cost is at risk if pre-approval were denied?

MR. LeBLANC:  I guess the word "realistically" is a bit open to interpretation.  I think when you sign a contract you're on the hook for the whole contract.  And realistically, potentially, although maybe it's low probability, any portion of that contract could be disallowed.  I'm not saying it's likely, but it's possible.  And, you know, ultimately we just don't think that we should bear that, the risk of that disallowance, given that we bear no benefit from the contract.

MR. RICHLER:  If the OEB pre-approved the cost for the greenfield portion of NEXUS from Kensington to Willow Run but not for the portion that uses existing pipe, do you think Enbridge would proceed with the NEXUS contract?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't want to speak for my management team.  I haven't had that discussion with them.  I think we would certainly consider a decision like that and look at it, along with whatever else might be in that decision, and take a serious look at it.  But I can't tell you with certainty what way we would fall on that.  But we would certainly look at it.

MR. RICHLER:  The precedent agreement says the condition precedent for OEB pre-approval must be satisfied or waived by October 1st, 2015, but allows Enbridge to temporarily waive it for 90 days.  I gather Enbridge has in fact temporarily waived it for 90 days?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, we did.  I think we mentioned that maybe at the outset.  But, yeah, we did extend it for the 90 days, so the extended deadline, I guess, is December the 29th.

MR. RICHLER:  And what would happen if the OEB did not issue a decision before December 29th?  Would there be another opportunity to extend the deadline?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't have any assurances that we could.  Our obligation under the contract right now is to seek approval by that December 29th deadline.  Beyond the December 29th deadline, I think it's open to some discussions with the project, but I don't know whether they would accept that or not.  Essentially, at December 29th we don't have a decision or the contract is essentially done.  Now, the contract does have written into it the -- you know, we are actually obligated.  If we terminate the contract or they terminate the contract we have to enter into renegotiations to try and salvage the project, but I think our preference would be to try to get a decision by December 29th.  But, I mean, if -- I guess we would look at other options if we were there.

MR. RICHLER:  My next question relates to an issue that generated some discussion with Union last Friday and again this morning, but I wanted to get your take on it too.

Is it fair to say that what you're asking for in this application amounts to the transfer of the risk associated with the NEXUS cost consequences from Enbridge's shareholder to ratepayers?

MR. LeBLANC:  It transfers the cost consequences.  It transfers, I guess, a residual risk, maybe.  If you look in our -- maybe I'll turn it up, just -- we have a -- and I think we discussed -- went through -- unless people want me to -- this morning Union discussed quite a bit about risks that they considered and the mitigation of those risk, and we too have gone through that as part of our evidence.  And so we believe that we -- you know, essentially what we're here to do is to tell the Board this is an opportunity.  There are a bunch of risks.  We have sort of laid out what we think those risks are and where we think we've covered them off.  Our contract has done a lot of that.  We've negotiated a contract that protects us in a number of ways.

But, yes, there is some residual risk that would transfer to ratepayers if pre-approval were granted.  That's...

MR. RICHLER:  And what is that risk to ratepayers?  Is it the risk that if in ten years or in ten months a cheaper and better alternative to NEXUS emerges, the ratepayers will be stuck paying the NEXUS costs?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think the way I might answer that -- I don't know -- I think you have it in your compendium -- sorry to skip ahead on you, but in tab 4 of your compendium, you know, we don't try to plan a gas supply plan to pick the one winner that is the best contract.  We do it in a diverse -- we plan our gas supply in a diversified manner.

What this diagram, which is page -- sorry, page 22 of the compendium is trying to lay out -- and it's similar to one I think that was discussed with -- or on Union -- is to show that we have a diversified portfolio, and we don't try to pick a winner.  We try to pick a -- like you would with your retirement plans, we try to pick a variety of sources and a variety of supply, so that ratepayers are protected from an undue influence or an undue exposure, I guess is the right word, to any particular supply and transport.

So as you can see in this diagram, we try to lay out how we diversify our gas supply portfolio.  We believe that is the best way to protect ratepayers.  And so we believe that NEXUS -- well, our landed cost doesn't necessarily show NEXUS as the cheapest option today, so it may not be the cheapest option over the term, but it provides us with diversity in terms of supply path, supply basin, suppliers, and we think that that is the right way to design a gas supply plan, rather than trying to pick -- sort of pick the one winner and -- or loser, and we believe that NEXUS, combined with exposure to Chicago, the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, Niagara is a good mix and is in the best interests of ratepayers.  So we're -- our philosophy is about diversity.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  We'll come back to these pie charts later.  Now I wanted to ask, let's say the Board refuses Enbridge's request for pre-approval and then Enbridge opts not to proceed with the 15-year NEXUS contract.  Would that kill the NEXUS project, or do you think the pipe would get built anyway?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't know if it would kill the project for certain, but I know that our volume is important -- important enough that -- and I see you have it in your compendium as well, a reference to it -- important enough that we withdrew from NEXUS around August-September of 2014.  And then as is -- must be done according to the contract, entered into discussions and renegotiated and ultimately came to a different deal with NEXUS.  And I think that they were ultimately so interested in negotiating that different deal because they thought we were very important to the success of their project.

So do I know for certain that we will, I guess, tank or whatever the NEXUS project?  I don't know for certain, but I think we're pretty important.  You know, they basically, I wouldn't say dropped everything, but really focused on trying to renegotiate us back into the -- and to explain to us our importance to the project in order to make sure that we were part of the project.  So I think it could tank the project --


MR. RICHLER:  But the NEXUS developers haven't told you that they would cancel the project if you back out?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't think they would put so finite a point on that unless -- I mean, if I was the developer of a pipeline, I don't know if I would tell anyone in so many words that, yeah, it's you or we're done.  But they certainly showed interest in our volume through the negotiations.  So as close as they could without saying, I think they did, they did.  But they obviously didn't tell us that, no.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you know if the NEXUS proponents are waiting on the outcome of this OEB proceeding before going ahead with their FERC filings in the U.S. for U.S. regulatory approval?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think -- no, I don't think they are holding off.  I think they’ve got a lot invested in that process, and they don't see a reason to hold off at this point.  I think originally -- the reason I think the October 1 deadline was originally envisioned was because they wanted to see the outcome of this before they filed.

But given changes, I think they've decided to move forward because they’ve already got the work done.  Why would they not start to proceed.  They're trying to meet this November 1, 2017, in-service date and at some point you have to file with the FERC if you’re going to get a decision, and get the thing built and try to meet the sort of the in-service date that you've promised everyone.

So I think they've weighed the issues and decided to move forward.  So no, they're going to file without this decision, I expect.

MR. RICHLER:  Now I would like to ask a few questions about Enbridge's gas supply portfolio with or without NEXUS.  Can you turn to tab 3 of the compendium, please?

This shows two tables that Enbridge provided in this application.  The first table, table 3, shows where Enbridge will get its gas if it does not contract with NEXUS.  And the second one, table 4, shows where Enbridge will get its gas with NEXUS; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I think so.

MR. RICHLER:  In the second table, we see starting in 2018 NEXUS volumes of 42.4 PJs in every year, except for a couple years where it is slightly higher at 42.5 PJs, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think that's a leap year as the only difference.  It’s an extra day's volume, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  In the same table, we see the Chicago volumes drop from 67.4 in 2017 to 25.0 in 2018, which is a difference of 42.4 PJs.

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.  I think we've been clear in the evidence that we see this as a replacement for Chicago volumes, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And I think an even clearer illustration of that shift from Chicago gas to NEXUS gas is at tab 4, on the last page, which are the two pie charts you were referring to earlier.  And we see that – if I'm reading this right -- without NEXUS, Chicago accounts for 24 percent of your portfolio, and with NEXUS, Chicago's slice of the pie is down to 9 percent while NEXUS takes up the 15 percent, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  So going back to 3, if we go to the row for Dawn in the first table on page 16, we see it is exactly the same as the row for Dawn in the second table.

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Which means with or without NEXUS, Enbridge expects to source an increasing amount of gas at Dawn after 2017, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.  I would only caveat that in that Dawn is sort of our default place to get gas, because it's a liquid hub that’s next to most of our –- well, virtually all of our storage, and we have a huge amount of transport from Dawn to the franchise.  It is our default.

This, I think we say it here in the evidence, but this is based on the decisions we've made at this time in supply.  So it doesn't necessarily contemplate future decisions.

But the other thing, just for clarity because I know it came up in the technical conference and might be something of interest, the tables in our -- if you look at the tables, there is a very large Dawn line and a growing Dawn line.  In these tables, that includes our direct purchase customers.  So -- and in retrospect, that's a bit confusing.

So the direct purchase customers are not part of system gas.  We're not buying on their behalf, so that line includes the direct purchase customers.  That's part of why we actually provided the diagrams, the pie charts, is we represented not exactly the same thing, but basically the same thing removing the direct purchase customers.

And you can see –- sorry, this is quite small.  But if you look -- if you find the Dawn bubble, which is sort of on the lower left hand side of the little bubble diagram, you'll see Dawn 514, and that's 514,000 gigajoules a day is what that is.  And then you'll see minus DTS, which is Dawn Transportation Service, so that's the direct purchase part.  So actually the system gas portion of our supply plan at Dawn is the 158,000 a day, which is about -- I think it's 50 or 60 PJs of the -- if you look at the other tables, you'll see 150, 180 PJs of Dawn supply, but only -- I think it's roughly 60 PJs of that is system gas.  I just wanted to clarify that.

MR. RICHLER:  So Dawn’s supply is growing over the next 15 years.  Where is that additional gas at Dawn going to come from?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think you have part of the importance of this project, and other projects bringing gas to Dawn.  Where is that gas going to come from?

 We've seen through Union's evidence they are building increases in their what we call take-away capacity from Dawn that people have contracted for.  Obviously that, with the desire -- there is someone out there that wants to buy gas at Dawn, and I think these projects are important to making sure there is gas at Dawn and diversity of gas at Dawn.

So I think the gas at Dawn is going to come from where it comes from today, plus hopefully Rover and NEXUS also being an option to bring gas to Dawn.

MR. RICHLER:  Table 3 does not include NEXUS, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  So that could be Rover, and it could be other sources.  But it’s not NEXUS that --

MR. LeBLANC:  Well, it doesn't include NEXUS as a contract in our portfolio.  I'm not saying that NEXUS could get built and the gas come from there, but it's gas purchased at Dawn.

But like I say, too, that line includes decisions yet to be made.  If there are other opportunities that come forth down the road, we may choose to replace some of that amount in the Dawn line with some other supply that has yet to be identified.

MR. RICHLER:  How does this relate to the issue of liquidity at Dawn?  We've heard a lot about how pre-approval of the NEXUS contract will improve liquidity at Dawn.  It looks, from this table, that liquidity is going to be improving at Dawn with or without NEXUS, or at least with or without pre-approval of this contract.

MR. LeBLANC:  I think what this indicates is greater demand placed on Dawn, which, I think, reduces liquidity in and of itself, all else being equal.

So I think it underscores and it -- it's one of the reasons why we renegotiate and got back into NEXUS is we believed NEXUS and Rover are important to maintaining liquidity at Dawn because there's so much demand being pointed at Dawn.

One of the key things we discovered over the last while -- we went through the Dawn transportation proceeding and virtually all –- I shouldn’t say virtually all -- 85 or 88, or some high 80s percentage of our direct purchase customers want to buy gas at Dawn.  So they're going back to Dawn.  All of -- virtually all of, as I understand it, Gaz Metro's customers and system supplier are targeting Dawn.

So I think we do need more gas, more suppliers, more variety of ways to get gas to Dawn.

MR. RICHLER:  Am I right that the total planned capacity of NEXUS is about 1.5 million DTH per day?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Looking at tab 5 of the compendium, which is Enbridge's response to APPrO Interrogatory No. 2, it looks like you're expecting about half of that, or 760,000 DTH per day of NEXUS gas to flow to Dawn, is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  I'm expecting capacity -- I guess I'm expecting our 110,000 to flow to Dawn each and every day for our purposes if we move forward.  I don't know precisely what Union's plan is around their -- I guess there is a distinction between capacity and supply.  There will be capacity of 760 a day to Dawn.  Whether or not it will be filled each and every day is a little different question.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  But am I right that between Union and Enbridge about -- or exactly 260,000 DTH per day has been contracted, so that's about 35 percent of the gas that could go to Dawn has been contracted between the two utilities, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, of the capacity to Dawn from -- currently planned for NEXUS, 35 percent is us; that's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Which leaves 65 percent, which will be contracted largely by producers and suppliers; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, and I think the distinction I was making a minute ago about supply versus capacity is they have a path from Kensington to Dawn, and there are other places for them to potentially sell their gas on the way to Dawn, so that's why I said not necessarily -- that 500 won't necessarily be filled every day.  They will sell the gas to the highest price that they can get along that path, and they may or may not sell it at Dawn.

MR. RICHLER:  But Enbridge could conceivably buy NEXUS gas at Dawn from the producers and suppliers?

MR. LeBLANC:  If they believe that Dawn price is the best price they can get for their gas, then, yes, it's possible that we could buy their gas at Dawn, at the Dawn price.  And I think, you know, the producers in taking the risk on the pipe get to take the benefit of the pipe.  So I'm not suggesting these numbers are the exact right numbers, but just illustratively, if the cost of the gas at the beginning of the pipe is a dollar and it costs a dollar to get it to Dawn and they can sell it at Dawn at $4, they get all the benefit there.  If we have the pipe -- and I'm not saying we can buy the gas at a dollar.  I'm just trying to be illustrative in this case.  If we have the pipe and take the risk on the pipe, we get the ability to negotiate with the basin and with the suppliers there.  We've taken the risk, and hopefully we can gain benefit for the ratepayers because of that.

MR. RICHLER:  So if you bought from producers and suppliers at Dawn, there may be price implications.  But the other side of the coin might be that there would be more flexibility for Enbridge in terms of contract terms, right?  You could into shorter contracts.  You'd be more flexible.

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that's what you're paying the additional price for, I guess.  If you're willing to pay the additional price to lose the, I guess, the flexibility and the ability to negotiate a better price, yes, that's one of the trade-offs you're facing.

MR. RICHLER:  And the end result would be an increase in supply diversity for the province.  We would still be getting Appalachian gas to Dawn?

MR. LeBLANC:  If both projects -- or if the project gets built, I -- then there will be more Appalachian gas getting to Dawn.

MR. RICHLER:  Looking again at tab 5, I see on the second page that Enbridge understands that on the Rover pipeline about 1.1 million DTH per day has been contracted to market zone north, which includes Dawn and two other delivery points.  So we don't know exactly how much of that Rover gas would reach Dawn, but it could be up to 1.1 million DTH per day; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't think all that goes to Dawn.  I think -- I've heard the numbers.  I believe it's about 900 of that actually goes all the way to Dawn.  So that market north I think includes Michigan and some other components.  But let's call it 900 is the capacity that will hopefully be built to Dawn.

Like I -- I just repeat myself, I guess, but I just want to make the point is, particularly with Rover, Rover takes an even more, I guess, roundabout -- not roundabout, but a less direct route to Dawn than NEXUS does.  It stops at Defiance, which is sort of a connection with several major pipelines that take gas to the Gulf of Mexico area.

So again, if Gulf of Mexico pricing is the best pricing, they will sell the gas, and it might not show up at Dawn.

The importance, I guess -- one of the important things of us being involved in the project is I know that if I'm involved in the project 110,000 a day of the Utica supply that can be flowed through NEXUS is going to get to ratepayers.  Without being directly involved, you have to hope that the market dictates that it gets there and it's not the same thing.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, we heard from Union that Rover is fully subscribed or sold out.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that is.

MR. RICHLER:  The amount contracted on Rover is entirely contracted by producers and suppliers rather than utilities or other end users; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And presumably those producers and suppliers will be looking for customers, including at Dawn?

MR. LeBLANC:  Definitely.

MR. RICHLER:  So Enbridge would be able to purchase gas at Dawn from other shippers on Rover?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, at a Dawn price, and basically, you know, eroding that ability to get back in the basin.  I mean, in our supply plan we try to buy gas at hubs and try to buy a portion of the gas back in the basin.  We've done that historically in Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, and we think that's the right way to try to supply ratepayers.  So -- and the reason that that can be helpful -- so we all remember a couple winters ago when pricing spiked very high at Dawn and at Chicago virtually at the same time, and that spiking was largely due to a lack of pipeline capacity to get gas to those points on the day.

When you contract back into the basin and you buy gas back in the basin you don't necessarily face those same kind of pricing spikes, because the basin is not constrained -- it's constrained by how much can be produced, but it's not constrained by the existing pipeline capacities.  That's why we like to buy some of our gas in the basin.  On those days when we saw those spikes, we were buying gas back in the basin, in Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, and not seeing anywhere near the kinds of spikes that we saw in those liquid hub -- supposedly liquid hubs, which are usually very liquid hubs on those days, so there is a benefit, definitely, of going back to the basin for supply.

MR. RICHLER:  Instead of buying gas from Rover at Dawn, could you alternatively purchase capacity on Rover through third-party contracting with parties that already hold Rover capacity?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't know why they would want to do that.  That gives up the -- you know, I think that gives up -- the whole point of them signing up for capacity is to get to a premium price of gas, say, at Dawn or at Chicago or wherever.  So, yeah, they might sell it to us, or sell us  capacity, but I think they would want the same price as if they sold it to us at Dawn.  So I don't know if they're -- you would get the same advantage, because we've not taken on the risk.  Unless we took a full assignment of their capacity, which amounts to the same thing as what we're doing here.

MR. RICHLER:  Is it fair to say Rover is closer to getting built than NEXUS?

MR. LeBLANC:  It's my understanding that they're on a similar path in terms of their in-service dates.  Their original in-service date to -- I can't remember.  Do we have the dates?  I think they had one date to get to Defiance and another date to get to Dawn.  So their original dates were projecting to be slightly ahead of NEXUS in terms of in-service, but as I understand it they may be on the same path, the same dates, as NEXUS at this point.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you expect Rover will be built?

MR. LeBLANC:  I hope so.  I think they have a lot of support.  I also think that they're building a lot of -- any pipeline faces a lot of opposition these days, and they're building a lot of assets, twin 42-inch pipelines to Defiance and then more pipeline up to Michigan.  So I think any pipeline project is at risk of potentially not being built.

I hope it gets built.  I think they're in pretty good shape right now and will likely get built.  But I can't tell that you I for sure believe that they will get built at this time.

MR. RICHLER:  And I take it that Enbridge’s view is that there is room for both NEXUS and Rover?

MR. LeBLANC:  Absolutely.  As I said earlier, I believe Ontario and Dawn need more access to the Marcellus and Utica basins than they have today.

I mean, we have something in the order of -- we have 1.6 PCF access to Chicago today.  We have something like 5-ish BCF of access to the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin today.  The largest supply basin in North America is across the lakes, and I think we need more than NEXUS, and I hope -– or we need more than Niagara, and I hope both that NEXUS and Rover get built.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, maybe I could cover one or two more themes before we take a break, unless you prefer to break sooner?

MS. SPOEL:  No, go ahead.

MR. RICHLER:  I would like to ask you a few questions about your landed cost analysis.

Tab 6 of the compendium is an updated landed cost analysis that Enbridge provided in response to Interrogatory No. 3 from TransCanada.  Can you confirm this is the most recent landed cost analysis that Enbridge has filed in this proceeding?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's look at the row for NEXUS base case on page 28.  You will agree, first of all, that the row for NEXUS anchor is not applicable because anchor status with the slightly preferred rate requires a minimum commitment of 150,000 DTH per day, which Enbridge has decided against contracting for, at least for now, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that was just to show, if we exercised our option, what the landed cost would be.

MR. RICHLER:  We immediately see that the NEXUS base case is not the cheapest option, and you mentioned this earlier.  The cheapest option would be TCPL from Niagara, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, and I might -- I won't turn you back there.  But you can take my word subject to check, that back on the portfolio diagrams, you'll see we already have 200,000 a day, which is a very substantial amount of transportation from Niagara.  And we believe in a diversified portfolio and we don't believe we would want more from Niagara.

I think we've already heard Niagara is built out, so there is not any more capacity available anyway.  But I think we have a pretty good foothold in Niagara at this time.

MR. RICHLER:  The second cheapest option is Dawn.  Am I right that Dawn in this table refers to purchasing delivered supplies at Dawn?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that's correct.  And I think -- I just caution you that buying all our gas at Dawn because it's the next cheapest place after Niagara where there is no more capacity is not necessarily a good strategy.

That's why I think I explained earlier about the diversification of the portfolio being important, to make sure that things that might happen in the future that aren't reflected in this landed cost forecast can be –- we can protect ratepayers by having the diversified portfolio.

But yes, it is the second cheapest option on this list.

MR. RICHLER:  The NEXUS base case landed cost is shown here is 47 cents GJ more expensive than the Dawn landed cost.  That’s $5.55 minus $5.08, which is a premium of about 10 percent, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that's the case.  I think I probably should just point out that a landed cost analysis is not meant to predict the future, or to be a hundred percent prediction of the future.  It's meant to provide everyone involved here, all stakeholders, with an indication of the relative competitiveness of the proposed NEXUS project versus the other options in the market.

And I believe it shows that the NEXUS project is one of the competitive options in the market.  I think you've already pointed out, or someone has already pointed out that Union's landed cost has very different numbers.  And it, too, is an indication based on a different set of assumptions of the competitiveness of NEXUS within the market.

I think the purpose of this was not to say, oh, let's pick the top three cheapest things.  It's to give an indicator that the NEXUS project is going to be a competitive option for ratepayers over the 15 years.

MR. RICHLER:  And I wanted to ask you about the difference between Enbridge's landed cost analysis and Union's.  And at tab 7 is Union's response to TransCanada's Interrogatory No. 2, and you can see that Union estimates that the Dawn landed costs are 68 cents per GJ higher than NEXUS.

So how do you explain the discrepancy between Enbridge's analysis and Union's?

MR. WELBURN:  A large part of the difference between the analysis that Union did and ourselves had to do with the difference in the commodity costs that we used in our forecast.  You can go to ten different experts and ask for a forecast of prices, and you'll get ten different forecasts.

The forecast that we had used was based off of a collection of data that's used based on future curves.  In other words, what we're talking about there is the future curves are based off of what the market is willing to pay for natural gas contracts in the future.  So it's really the pricing forecast that we did were used is based off what the market is willing to pay as we see it now into the future.

That goes out for about five years, and some interpolation that’s done to carry the prices a little further into the future.  That's a little different than the market forecast that Union Gas used, which is based on modelling that ICF did.

It's not to say one is right or wrong, or better than the other.  They're just different approaches, and both Union and ourselves have used an approach that's consistent with previous landed cost analysis that we've done and provided to the Board for various applications, and how we evaluate our gas supply plans.

I think the other thing just to take note of, too, is the path that we're flowing for NEXUS is different than what Union Gas is using.  We're flowing gas up to Milford Junction connection with Vector, and then from there we contract with Vector ourselves to bring the gas to Dawn, as opposed to Union which is taking gas right to St. Clair on a different route, which we have already talked about at the beginning.

So those are probably two of the predominant differences between the analysis that we did.  I think  most the things, like transportation tools and fuel ratios and stuff were fairly similar, because we take an approach where we look at the current state and then hold that steady into the future.

MR. RICHLER:  I want to follow-up.  To the extent that the difference relates to different forecasts of the commodity costs, I see in Union's analysis –- again this is Tab 7 –- they’ve actually got a column showing the basis differential, and we don't see that some information in Enbridge's landed cost analysis.

Would it be much trouble to ask you to provide us with the same information, to update your table to include the same information that Union has provided?

MR. WELBURN:  I would have to look into that a little bit more.  The way we extract the information from our database, that number comes out as the one number.

But I can certainly undertake to confirm if we can look at what the basis is that rolls up into...

MR. LeBLANC:  Sorry.  I would just add -- is my mic on?  Yes, it is.  I would just add that, you know, our -- and our landed cost was sort of a ground-up add commodity plus tolls to get to a cost kind of an analysis where my understanding is a high-level understanding of what Union does is more about the relative basis between various nodes.

I think we might be able to -- I'm not sure if we can provide what you're asking for, like a basis amount or not.  Maybe we can.  I would have to talk to some of our experts to be certain, but I'm just cautioning you that we may or may not be able to provide it, I guess.

MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, perhaps over the break, which I think will be coming up fairly soon, we can chat about what's possible and come back and let people know.

MS. SPOEL:  Yeah, I think that would be useful.  Maybe talk to Mr. Richler as well about what exactly it is that would be useful as well.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

MR. WELBURN:  Yeah, and I guess the other thing I would just point out, the second column of numbers, where it says "supply cost" in the Union analysis, that would in essence be the equivalent of the data that we provided.  So even without the actual basis that went into it, you should -- it's ultimately the landed -- I guess not the landed, but the cost at the various hubs that's used in the analysis, so you can do a comparison that way also.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Well, we'll chat at the break.

So Madam Chair, I see the time is 2:45, which was the time for our scheduled break, so I think I probably have about half an hour more, so --


MS. SPOEL:  We'll take our break now.

MR. RICHLER:  -- we'll -- okay.
--- Recess taken at 2:44 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:03 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Did you manage to resolve over the break what you and Mr. Richler's information request?

MR. STEVENS:  We have, and I'll read what I believe we've agreed upon.  And if my lack of technical precision shines through, people will correct me.

Enbridge has agreed it will provide the basis differential relative to Henry Hub for the commodity prices that are found in response to TransCanada Interrogatory No. 3.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Undertaking number?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE BASIS DIFFERENTIAL RELATIVE TO HENRY HUB FOR THE COMMODITY PRICES THAT ARE FOUND IN RESPONSE TO TRANSCANADA INTERROGATORY NO. 3

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Richler, back to you.

MR. RICHLER:  Am I right that Enbridge's position is that the 10 percent premium that NEXUS represents over Dawn is justifiable, in terms of the intangible benefits of NEXUS such as reliability and diversity of supply?

MR. LeBLANC:  I guess I would change that a little.  What the landed cost is meant to do is to show the relative competitiveness based on a set of information.  That's not necessarily a premium that will be paid.  All sorts of things could happen throughout those 15 years.  And the point of having a diversified portfolio is to protect customers from being exposed in too big a way to any one particular basin, any one particular trading hub.  


So by having a diversified portfolio including NEXUS  -- as I say again, what the landed cost is really meant to do is to show that it's relatively competitive.  It's not meant to say we're going to pay a 10 percent premium for the whole period.

MR. RICHLER:  Are there concerns with the reliability of Enbridge's existing transportation paths?

MR. LeBLANC:  Enbridge's existing transportation paths, I think, are relatively secure and reliable, although Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin -- and I think Sussex talks about it in their evidence, and maybe we do as well.  We've seen, well, a decline in production, yes.  Some would say that could come back, and maybe that's the case, but certainly a projected decline in exportable gas from the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin.

So if there is going to be less gas from the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, that will place pressure on those supplies, and similar things could be said for some of the other paths.  So relatively safe, absolutely.  But the whole point of diversification is to protect yourself from something that could happen down in the future and make sure that ratepayers are exposed to a bunch of different pricing points, and a bunch of different paths, in order to sort of cover yourself in case any one particular point becomes unpalatable in the future.

MR. RICHLER:  A couple of more questions about diversification.

What would happen if Enbridge contracts for NEXUS capacity and then, over the 15-year term of the contract, demand falls amongst Enbridge's customers?  What actions would Enbridge take in order to ensure it didn't have excess transportation capacity?

MR. LeBLANC:  Can I turn us back to the pie charts in your compendium for that?

MR. RICHLER:  Let's find the tab --

MR. LeBLANC:  Page 22, tab 4 of the Board's compendium to Enbridge.

MR. RICHLER:  Thanks.

MR. LeBLANC:  If you look at the right side of this table, you'll see that we have a diversified portfolio and included with that diversified portfolio is a diverse set of contract terms, such that we have the flexibility within our portfolio to manage declines or, you know, we hopefully can also manage increases by more purchases at Dawn, or more purchases somewhere else.

So just to give you an idea, because I think there was an undertaking for Union yesterday something to this effect.  So I looked at this specifically -- maybe it was on Friday.  Of the three paths here, Niagara -- I guess four paths:  Niagara, NEXUS, Chicago, and Western Canada -– five, sorry -- and Dawn.  The western Canadian portion, the Dawn portion, and the Chicago portion of our supply, so I think it's 59 percent, if I did the math correctly of our supply -- of our transportation portfolio to move our supply is on contracts of less than 5 years.  Some, 34 or 35 percent is less than three years.

And then the remaining, basically Niagara and NEXUS, are the longer term contracts within our portfolio.  So we have a large amount of our portfolio that is flexible in the event that there are declines in supply requirements for our system gas customers.

MR. RICHLER:  Doesn't that mean that if demand were to fall, that there could be a reduction to supply diversity because a relatively larger share of your supply portfolio would be made up of NEXUS supplies, because those are locked in?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I agree with that.  But I would say to you we could, I guess, contract for everything at Dawn and have three-year contracts, but we would not have diversity.  And if Dawn went through the roof, our customers would be fully exposed to Dawn one hundred percent.  So the whole point of this and -– yes, we have to contract for long terms in order to get some of these new basins and access to new supplies.

But I think it's reasonable that 41 percent of our contracts are sort of in the 13 to 15 years, if we assume NEXUS included, and 59 percent is in the three to five year range.

MR. RICHLER:  How much Appalachian shale gas does Enbridge currently have in supply portfolio?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's a very difficult question to answer, but I can give you some indicators.  So currently meaning -- so we're not flowing Niagara yet.  We won't flow it until January 1.  Let's assume Niagara is on, maybe currently 2016 let's call it maybe.  So in 2016, approximately 26 percent coming through Niagara.  We don't know for certain that's coming from Marcellus, but we do think that a relatively large chunk of it is.   I think we acknowledged that through our evidence.

And then there is the possibility that some gas is getting to these other places in some roundabout way.  There is a lot of pipes, as you saw in one of our graphics, and the gas -- I think the term a lot of people use, we don't colour-code the molecules.  We don't know exactly where each molecule came from.  So there's probably a little bit coming from other directions.

But the large share of current –- and by current, I mean starting January 1, 2016, would be the Niagara supply.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Through my next few questions, I would like to trace the evolution of Enbridge's thinking of NEXUS over the past few years.  I understand that at the outset, around 2012, Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.'s parent company, was actually one of the proponents of the NEXUS pipeline, along with Spectra and DTE; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, they were one of the original potential –- yes, original proponents of the project, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Is Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.?

MR. LeBLANC:  I believe so, yes.

MR. RICHLER:  But at one point Enbridge Inc. dropped out, leaving Spectra and DTE as the only co-proponents, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yeah, I don't know the details, but essentially I think they had a memorandum of understanding and they decided not to move forward at the time.

MR. RICHLER:  You don't know why it is that Enbridge Inc. dropped out?

MR. LeBLANC:  No, you know, early on in this process I did talk to -- I think one of the first -- I've been in gas supply for three years, and one of the first meetings around NEXUS was in February of 2013, roughly, and went down there talking to the various folks involved.  We sort of agreed that the best thing for us to do is evaluate this on a stand-alone basis, so EGD will go and evaluate this from a gas-supply point of view, and they will go on their way and evaluate NEXUS from an investment point of view, and so we tried to keep that separation, because we thought it was the right thing just so that folks would understand that we're making this decision because we think it's the right one for the ratepayer.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, we don't need to turn this up now, but I see that in Exhibit A to Enbridge's evidence at page 12 it says that the MOU between Enbridge Inc., Spectra, and DTE expired, but that Enbridge Inc. "remains in discussions with Spectra and DTE regarding the terms of its potential participation in the project".

Do you have any idea what the status is of those discussions?

MR. LeBLANC:  The only thing I know about those would be -- I can't remember what it is, whether it's the quarterly investor calls that were had recently.  Enbridge does mention a couple times that they still have interest in the NEXUS project.  That's really the only indication I have as to whether anything more has occurred.

So as far as I know they are still interested, but I think I heard Union say yesterday that there would only be two proponents, so I don't know what that means, but...

MR. RICHLER:  But as far as you know there is still a possibility that Enbridge Inc. could become an owner-operator of --


MR. LeBLANC:  I think anything is possible.  I think the longer this goes on probably the likelihood might be going down, but I think anything is possible, sure.

MR. RICHLER:  Continuing on the same theme, tracking Enbridge's approach to NEXUS over the last several years, let's turn to tab 8 of the compendium, which is a memo dated August 18th, 2014 from Joel Denomy to Malini Giridhar.

And Mr. LeBlanc, you are cc'd on this memo, so I presume you're familiar with it?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I was involved with its development.

MR. RICHLER:  And Joel Denomy and Malini Giridhar are both with Enbridge; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, at the time Malini was my boss and Joel reported for me, actually, in the role that -- essentially the role that Andrew carries now.

MR. RICHLER:  If we look at the introduction we can see the context for this memo.  It says:

"EGD" -- meaning Enbridge Gas Distribution, I take it -- "signed a precedent agreement with the proponents of the NEXUS project on June 5th, 2014.  The PA has a condition precedent on internal approvals that must be waived by September 30th, 2015.  The purpose of this memo is to provide a recommendation on whether EGD should continue to pursue capacity on the NEXUS gas transmission project."

And then ultimately the memo recommends that Enbridge not contract for capacity on NEXUS and to let the June 5th, 2014 precedent agreement lapse, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And this recommendation was followed, and Enbridge did not provide NEXUS with the requisite internal approvals for the June 5th, 2014 precedent agreement, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's right.  We provided them notice that we could not satisfy the internal approvals and that we would -- therefore the contract would end.

MR. RICHLER:  But then a few months later Enbridge reconsidered, and you don't have to turn to it now, but at tab 9 of the compendium there is a memo dated November 26th, 2014, where a recommendation is made to Enbridge's Board of Directors to commit to NEXUS.

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, and I think I would just point for everyone's benefit to our response to FRPO Interrogatory No. 4, so Exhibit 1, tab 1, EGDI.FRPO.4, and in that interrogatory response I think we walked through -- maybe I'll just walk through it briefly for folks to explain a bit of the evolution, I guess, for the benefit of the Panel and for others.

So this response was meant to help people understand, you know, our evolution.  And essentially two things happened that led us ultimately to withdraw from this -- the first contract.  One was Rover and ANR sort of came out of the woodwork and were big projects, seemed to have a huge amount of commitment.  And that created a lot of uncertainty in our minds as to whether or not we were required to make sure that enough transportation got to Dawn and got to our ratepayers.  So that was the first thing.

The other thing is about that same time -- so these projects come out of nowhere sort of for us, and at the same time we were working on filling our supply contracts for Niagara.  And our Niagara contracts had been planned to be filled through a combination of base load and seasonal load factor supplies.

And in actually filling that capacity at Niagara it became clear that there were a few suppliers there that had gas that didn't have transportation going somewhere else.  So we were faced with, you know, a fairly liquid Niagara market to fill our 200,000 a day.

And in order to fill that capacity, rather than fill some of our capacities for everyone on a seasonal-only basis and some on an annual basis, we had to fill it almost entirely with annual load.  And our customers only use so much gas, so, you know, when you have to fill a certain contract with annual load, that's more gas, and then you have to sort of back off somewhere else.

And so at that time we looked at the NEXUS contract and said 150,000 a day, which was the contract at the time, is a lot, given that that Niagara capacity is going to be filled.  We don't want to have too much gas here.  We need to maintain our flexibility.

So we withdrew, so it was really uncertainty of what was going on in the market and how we were filling our Niagara that drove us to withdraw.  I mean, we had to make a decision at that time to either proceed or withdraw, and we chose to withdraw because we weren't comfortable in the level of the contract.

So then we -- sorry, just one second.  I'm flipping through the wrong thing.  So we actually touch on these factors and some other ones here.  Factors -- other factors that ended the first PA was, you know, some questioning around, and at the bottom of page 2 of that response we talk about some questioning around the supply at Kensington, the Dawn liquidity.  Because of these new projects we thought, well, maybe we don't have to help Dawn with liquidity.  It looks like these huge projects are going to build new pipe to Dawn, so, you know, new pipe to Dawn is significant new gas to Dawn, and then the Niagara Chip, as well as -- and the final one of the four bullets here is -- which is on the top of page 3 -- was some risks in our minds, given how seemed -- how committed folks were with the Rover project as to whether NEXUS would get built.

So those were sort of the things that we saw as -- that made us withdraw.  And then further on in this response we talk about what changes we made and what things we did to gain comfort so that we got back into NEXUS.  So the bottom of page 3, we talk about the need for more supply.  So about that time, we were going through the Dawn access consultative.  I think I mentioned earlier, somewhere in the mid 80s percent of our direct purchase customers suddenly wanted more gas from Dawn.  So liquidity at Dawn became more important to us.

And then, when you move on to page 4, we were able to negotiate a reduced volume that was more comfortable for us, in terms of our overall portfolio.  It seemed to fit better, the 110,000 than the 150.  We got the Sussex report, which helped us to understand better the supply picture around the basin, which we were a bit uncertain up to that point.  They helped us and we continue to see more and more information about the basin.  But at that time, that helped us a lot in understanding the basin.

And then we also negotiated the change in our path.  So our original path was all the way to Dawn.  So we negotiated to connect with Vector and what that gave us -- one thing it gave us is it reduced the overall commitment from 700 some million to 400 and some million, so a lower relative dollar commitment.  And it also gave us, I guess what in my mind was our backup plan.  If NEXUS never got built, the way we've negotiated with Vector is we just keep our capacity with Vector, and so we have that as a backup  -- sort of our backup plan for the supply.

And then I guess finally on the top of page 5, we also negotiated that option to increase.  It’s not really that important to it, but we felt that we addressed our concerns enough with -- we had to renegotiate; it's part of the contract.  And we felt that through renegotiation, we addressed enough of the concerns that caused us to withdraw, to make us comfortable to get back in.  And we felt it was necessary for us to get back in to make sure that adequate connectivity gets built into Dawn from the Utica part of the Appalachian basin.

MR. RICHLER:  Thanks, that was a helpful over view.  I would like to parse it a little bit, just to make sure I understand how each of the risks identified in this August 18, 2014, memo was addressed or mitigated before you decided to renegotiate the precedent agreement.

So first let's look at page 5 of the memo, or page 37 of the compendium.  At the second paragraph under the heading “NEXUS Evaluation”, it explains that the total financial commitment over the term of the contract ranges from 606 million to 766.2 million, and says – and I’ll quote:

“This represents a significant financial commitment for EGD and its ratepayers.  If EGD is able to source gas directly at Dawn or another established hub, this long-term commitment is not necessary.”

Now, I realize that the financial commitment has been reduced somewhat since this memo was written, because the amount to be taken has been reduced.

But would you say that the last sentence remains true today?
“If EGD is able to source gas directly at Dawn or another established hub, this long-term commitment is not necessary.”

MR. LeBLANC:  I think I would -- I think I would answer it in this way.  When Rover and ANR came out of nowhere for us, they were explained -– well, Rover was explained as a brand new pipe coming into Dawn.  So that was going to mean –- I don’t know, whatever the number was -– up to 1.3 million a day of new capacity and new potential supply into Dawn.

What has occurred over time -- and this wasn't immediately apparent at this time.  But what has occurred over time is that it's become apparent that now Rover is connecting into Vector.  So the increased supply is only 300,000, maybe 400,000 a day, depending on who you ask maybe.

So the picture that I saw at that point in time was a massive amount of new gas was coming to Dawn, and I felt, wow, that's a lot of gas.  Yes, there's a lot of new demand pointed at Dawn, but there’s going to be a lot of new gas there if Rover gets built.  That was the uncertainty.

Over time, we've discovered that it's not -- it's going to be more gas, but not necessarily as much.  So I think there was some uncert – the initial view of Rover is it that it had huge commitments, it was a lock.  And then the things you hear around the industry is maybe it's not quite as foregone conclusion as Rover might have put on at the time.

So there became some uncertainty as to whether it would get built and how it would get built, and led us -–that was one of the reasons that led us back into supporting NEXUS, because the last thing we wanted to have happen is Rover not get built and, because of us, NEXUS not get built, and no new capacity getting built.

I think it's important to Dawn and Ontario that significant new capacity does get built from that basin.

MR. RICHLER:  Moving to the next paragraph, the memo says:
"A long-term commitment to NEXUS capacity precludes EGD from accessing competitive alternatives for a significant period of time.  The PA also contains a clause which allows for NEXUS to extend the commencement date, which in turn extends the termination date of the PA. Effectively, EGD could remain party to the PA for a pipe that never gets built, and therefore precluded from exploring competitive alternatives to a date as late as November 1, 2019."


Doesn't that risk remain today, even though Enbridge’s NEXUS commitment has been reduced from 150,000 to 110,000?

 MR. LEBLANC:  The last part of that, I think -- like the last part of that is what concerned me.  November 1 of 2019 at the time seemed a long time to wait and see if NEXUS would get built.

I think we -– you know, just as time went on and we knew more about the project, we became more confident that the project could get built.  That November, by the way that November 1, '19, has now been reduced by a year because -- I think you might have it in here later in your compendium.  I hate to skip ahead on you, but they have now confirmed what was termed the bona fide estimate of their in-service date as being November 1 of ’17.  So that reduces the time we sort of have to hold open the ability of NEXUS to complete its contract by a year.  So that has become a little more clear.

But at the time, a smaller commitment and just evolution and understanding of NEXUS versus Rover versus the other projects led us to become more comfortable with this, because it was a smaller volume and because we had more confidence that the project was going forward.

MR. RICHLER:  You did anticipate one of the my later questions, which was whether you received confirmation of the estimated in-service date.

So you said earlier we had November 2017.  So that is on target, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct, it’s on target with their plans.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Moving on to the next paragraph in the memo, it says:
“With three projects attempting to connect to Dawn,” and here the memo is referring to NEXUS, Rover, and the ANR East project, “there is a likelihood that not all the projects will ultimately be built.  At this stage, it appears as though E.T. Rover has a significant advantage over the other two projects.  Commitments have been made on E.T. Rover greater than those on NEXUS for a longer term and for less risk to the shopper.  There is a risk that supply could flow to one of these other projects and not to NEXUS, or bypass these projects completely and flow to other markets.  These uncertainties make it unpalatable for EGD to commit to ratepayers to such a significant financial obligation.”

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, so my comment on this section would be that over a period of several months, we learned more about the project, we learned more about the capacity, the vast sort of potential of the area, and gained more comfort that there would be no -- one of the things we asked Sussex to actually do, and it is actually attached, I think, to your tab 9, although I don't know if it's in your compendium, was to provide a view of supply from the basin for us.  So from an expert's point of view, what does the supply look like from the basin, so we gained -- in our discussions with them and in our review of their report and understandings we gained a lot more understanding of the basin and felt comfortable that we could fill our capacity and that we would not have this issue.

I think you quoted a piece here about bypass the projects completely and flow to other markets.  I would point out to the Board just on that point there's -- when basins get built out -- sort of pipe gets built out to move that gas and once that pipe is built sort of the infrastructure is there, and that's where the gas flows.

And I think it's important to note that we're competing with these projects, with other projects to move gas to other markets, so I guess I just say that we need to make sure that we get enough access to the basin now because projects might not get built down the road.  There is a lot of demand coming from the Gulf and coming from the U.S. northeast that might take up demand.  I mean, the supply is growing, so I think there's some time, but I think it's important to get that connectivity while sort of the infrastructure is being built out.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, we heard Union say on Friday that ANR east is on hold.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yeah, the last I heard of that, I think it was in Gas Daily around January of this year.  I'm not absolutely certain on that, but sometime this year it was announced that the project was on hold at that time, and that's the last I'd heard of that project.

MR. RICHLER:  Just so I understand, returning to the paragraph -- the bottom paragraph on page 37, the risk that supply could flow to one of these other projects and not NEXUS or bypass these projects completely and flow to other markets, just so I understand how Enbridge's thinking has evolved, was it -- and maybe I just didn't understand your last answer, but is it the facts that changed, the agreement with NEXUS that changed, or your analysis that changed?

MR. LeBLANC:  The facts that were available to me -- there were more facts available to me, more information available to me.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Fair enough.

Moving on to the next page, 38 of the compendium, it says at the bottom of the page:

"Additional supply from NEXUS will reduce supply flexibility by increasing exposure to U.S. northeast markets beyond that contemplated in the GTA project and limiting the ability to access supply from Chicago."

I take it the statement that NEXUS will actually reduce supply flexibility no longer reflects Enbridge's views; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think -- no, I think NEXUS will increase -- or reduce supply flexibility.  I think my view and Enbridge's view is that it's worth that cost to have access to the basin and to have that diversity in our portfolio and to have access to those new suppliers and the new potential of that basin.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you explain what is meant here by "increasing exposure to U.S. northeast markets beyond what was contemplated in the GTA project"?


MR. LeBLANC:  I'm just going to -- just one second.

We might have to take that away, but my prediction is that during the GTA project we were looking at Marcellus capacity coming in through Niagara and not further projects into the basin at the time, but I can double-check that and come back to you if you like.  But I believe that's the -- where that came from.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  I think we'll let that go.  We don't need an undertaking on that.

Continuing reading from the same paragraph on the bottom of page 38, it says:

"The NEXUS Kensington receipt point is not currently an established hub.  Unlike Dawn and, to a lesser extent, Niagara Falls Chippawa, there are currently no known supply options at Kensington.  In order for EGD to secure supply at Kensington it is expected that a long-term supply arrangement would be required, further adding to the financial commitment and risk associated with excess capacity."

Is that still true that Kensington is not an established hub?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yeah, I would say it's still true.  It's becoming a more established hub, and it's proximate to an established hub like Clarington, and as you've seen I think through the last couple of days NEXUS now has worked with TETCO, whatever it's called, to make sure that that path to another hub is available.

Also, the TGP pipeline will be interconnecting at or near the Kensington point, and TGP, there is a huge amount of gas flowing on that pipe, so I think, you know, it's a bit of a chicken and an egg thing.  Sometimes with these things where you are truly trying to reach back to a new basin, when you start there's nothing there.  But we've seen over time over the last three years the supply develop, the options develop.  We've been in discussions over the last six months with all sorts of producers and marketers about supply in and around the Kensington and that area.

So we certainly have -- you know, at this time there wasn't a lot there, but we certainly have much more comfort around that.  And one of the conditions precedent in our agreement was to allow us time to continue to watch the supply picture to gain comfort and to be able to walk away if we weren't comfortable with the supply.  And I think over time we've gained a lot of comfort with the supply picture.

MR. RICHLER:  Right.  And what is the status of that condition precedent?  Have you already done that analysis or...

MR. LeBLANC:  No.  So the condition precedent says something like once the pipeline has declared its bona fide in-service date.  And the reason that was there is I negotiated that actually to be there, because if the in-service date was November 1, 2018, I wanted time from that point -- or 2000 -- you know, I wanted it to be flexible.

So now that they've declared their in-service date we continue to look at supply.  We have been looking at supply for the last number of months, but we continue to work with the market.  I think in an IR response we detail a non-binding open season for supply that we completed.  We got quite a lot of interest from a number of suppliers based on a number of different pricing parameters.  I think the next logical steps are, you know, get a decision, decide if we're moving forward, and then probably do a binding RFP with suppliers to try to secure that supply.

So in terms of analysis, I think we will continue to look at the basin up to and close to that end date and decide for certain whether we're going to move forward based on that.  I don't think I would give away my option until I have to, but, you know, we've done a lot of work to get comfort around supply to this date.

MR. RICHLER:  And to return to the paragraph in the memo that I was just reading from, if Enbridge were to enter a long-term arrangement to secure supply at Kensington, as contemplated in that paragraph, would Enbridge seek pre-approval from the OEB for the cost consequences of that contract?

MR. LeBLANC:  Maybe and maybe not.  I guess it depends on how significant it is.  I mean, if I got direction obviously I would.  But over time, actually, in talking with suppliers we've gotten a little bit of a different story.  We thought we would have to sign up for some very long -- potentially very long supply contracts.  Actually, the opposite is the case.  These folks don't want to sign up for too long, because there is so much changing in the market they don't necessarily want to sign up for a long-term commitment.

So I'm not sure we're going to have to take significant long-term commitments, but certainly if they were substantial we would consider coming for pre-approval.

MR. RICHLER:  On page 7 of the memo, 39 of the compendium, immediately below the table, it says:
“The likelihood of OEB pre-approval of the NEXUS contract is low.  Given the multitude of projects that have been or will be developed in the U.S. northeast, the Board will more than likely view the NEXUS project as a standard build and not one, for example, that is accessing frontier gas.”

Pausing there for a second, would you characterize Appalachian gas as frontier gas?

MR. LeBLANC:  I guess I'm glad you asked.  I just want to go back to -- I think it was in Union's compendium.  It included the letter in front of the Board criteria, and the Board criteria as well as the Niagara decision.  So I just wanted to point out something that I thought was interesting in my review of those.

In the letter, in front of it, it does talk about frontier production.  It says:
“At the meetings, no substantive issues were raised and stakeholders generally agreed to a pre-approval process for long-term contracts that support the development of new natural gas infrastructure.”


That was in the background section and it says:
“Example: new pipeline facilities to access new natural gas supply sources such as LNG plants or frontier production,” so examples of when it might be appropriate.  And then when you read the guidelines, it never talks about frontier gas --


MS. SPOEL:  Can you answer Mr. Richler's question, which was do you think this was frontier gas.  He didn't ask you for an interpretation of the guideline or the letter which is already -- which is on the record and we can all read, and is probably a matter for argument.

But can you answer his question?  Do you or do you not think this is frontier gas.  And then maybe later on, you can elaborate at some appropriate time.

But he asked you a pretty simple direct question, and maybe you can just answer it, or we'll be here until 2016.

MR. LeBLANC:  Sorry, I don't mean to go on too much.  I just wanted to point out the criteria itself didn't say frontier gas was the only type of gas that could gain pre-approval.  That was my only point, and I would just say that this gas is as frontier as you're probably ever going to see coming to Ontario, unless they discover gas, say, in the middle of Algonquin Park and they build a pipe from there.

This – you know, the Utica basin is brand new.  It’s a new basin.  It's been developing in just the last little while.  It's, I guess, as frontier as you're going to get.  If frontier means Alaska or the North Pole, then no, it's not that.  But it's certainly what I would call new gas that wasn't available.

MR. RICHLER:  As you say, the OEB pre-approval guidelines, or at least the cover letter to the guidelines, does refer to this term frontier gas, but there is no definition.

I'm wondering is frontier gas an industry term?

MR. LeBLANC:  Not that I am aware of.  All the guidelines say, and it says it four or five times, is new infrastructure for new gas supplies.  I think that was my  -– I guess that was my point is when you bring up frontier gas, I assume you mean that that is one of the criteria and I don't feel, based on what I've seen, that that is a specific criteria for pre-approval.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Continuing with the paragraph I was reading from the memo, it says:
“Pre-approval would also require the Board to satisfy itself that absent NEXUS incremental supplies would not be able to access Dawn.  This is unlikely given the number of new projects seeking to connect to Dawn and the possibility of future expansions of existing facilities allowing access to Dawn.”

So it remains the case that NEXUS is not the only new project planned to take Appalachian shale gas to Dawn.  You've already talked about Rover, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.  At the time, Rover was 1.3, ANR was 350,000, and NEXUS was going to be some ability up to 150.  Now what we see is the reality of the situation, is we have a total of 1.6.

So I would say although other projects are coming, what we're going to get at the end of the day, if both these projects are built, is a piece of what could have happened from that point in time, what we could see at that point in time.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's leave that memo.  I have a few more questions, and these relate to the contract Enbridge has with Vector.  It may be helpful for context to turn up tab 1 of the compendium, which has a good map of Vector on page 6 of the compendium.

MR. LeBLANC:  I have that.

MR. RICHLER:  In its application, Enbridge says it plans to restructure current plans for Vector capacity.  I gather the purpose is to ensure the 110,000 DTH per day of gas that will be arriving on NEXUS at Milford can then continue on Vector towards Dawn; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.  We filed a response to one of our undertakings to the technical conference, the terms of that restructuring with Vector.  And it does basically align -- 110,000 a day of the Vector contract will align with the NEXUS contract, so we have a full path for the full term of NEXUS.

MR. RICHLER:  Right, and at tab 10 of our compendium is your response to OEB Staff Interrogatory No. 13.  So it looks like the offer to restructure from Vector expires November 30, which is in a couple of weeks.  So what happens if that offer to restructure expires?  Would you skill be able to move forward with the NEXUS plan?

MR. LeBLANC:  Either last week or the week before, we discussed this very point with Vector and they have agreed in writing to extend our option on this restructuring until February 16, to allow us time to get an OEB decision, consider that decision, and we need a bit of time to work out the paper -- you know, the detailed terms of that agreement.  But we've gotten an extension to February 16th to take advantage of that restructuring.

MR. RICHLER:  Am I right that Enbridge Inc. has an ownership state in Vector?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, they do.  I think it's -- I knew it at the time of the tech –- yes, a significant stake anyway.

MR. RICHLER:  I seem to recall 60 percent was --


MR. LeBLANC:  60 percent, yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Thanks, Mr. LeBlanc and Mr. Welburn, those are all my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  I think Mr. Tolmie was going to ask some questions.  Are you on the phone, Mr. Tolmie?

MR. TOLMIE:  Yes, I am.

MS. SPOEL:  Great.  Are you prepared to proceed at this point?

MR. TOLMIE:  Yes, I am.  Can you hear me all right?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, we can.

MR. TOLMIE:  Should I go ahead then?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, please.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Tolmie:


MR. TOLMIE:  Both panels mentioned that the gas that feeds the NEXUS will be coming from the Utica deposit rather than from Marcellus; is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  I would say it a little differently.  The NEXUS project targets the Utica supply, but there is also the potential to have some Marcellus supply flow in it.

MR. TOLMIE:  Do you have rough estimate of what the proportions would be between the two?

MR. LeBLANC:  I do not know.  We have not negotiated the specific terms of supply at this point in time, so I do not know.

MR. TOLMIE:  So at the present time would it be fair to say that the gas will come from Utica rather than Marcellus?  From the point -- from what you [audio dropout].

MR. LeBLANC:  I think given where the project starts it's likely that a significant portion of what flows on the pipe will be from Utica.  However, there is the connection to TGP and the connection to the TETCO system, which provides the option of Marcellus supply as well.

MR. TOLMIE:  Do the connections to Texas bring shale gas or conventional gas?

MR. LeBLANC:  I would have to say some of both.  I don't know what proportion.  I just expect that both types of gas potentially flows on that pipe.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  The Utica basin lies well below the Marcellus one.  And in order to drill into the Utica basin you had to drill right through the Marcellus, or much of the area.  Is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  In places.  They're not 100 percent over each other.  There is overlap between the two basis, and different parts of the basins are at different levels.  The area -- as I understand, the area around where this pipe originates is sort of in the sweet spot of a lot of the gas that's attainable at this point from the Utica, but I'm not an expert on that.

So they are overlapped not in all cases, not at all points.

MR. TOLMIE:  By "sweet", you mean sweet spot in terms of gas that's available or in terms of pipelines that are available for bringing the gas out?

MR. LeBLANC:  In terms of gas.  So there's -- in these basins there's typically a sweet spot for dry gas, for liquids-rich gas, for oil.  There's various parts of the basin that are better or worse for different types of products, and this area is sort of the, what's expected to be one of the most productive parts of the Utica in the state of Ohio.

MR. TOLMIE:  Considering the depth of the deposits and the potential problems in drilling into deposit, is it possible that the Utica gas will cost more than Marcellus gas?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't think so.  Well, I'm not sure relative to -- I've seen a number of economics -- comparisons of the various basins.  There's some filed under TransCanada 7.

What I've seen is that the Utica -- the recoverability of Utica is one of the cheapest of the various shale basins in North America.  You know, it's in there.  There's a lot of paper there, so I won't turn to it, but it is one of the cheaper supplies to develop.

MR. TOLMIE:  So what you pay will be dependent on the contracts that you make with the suppliers, as opposed to having a flat rate from the hub; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, that's correct.  I think that's one of the advantages of the NEXUS pipeline for us, is we get to negotiate with the suppliers right in the basin and access to a whole different set of people selling gas.

MR. TOLMIE:  The danger of that, potentially, would be that if it is more expensive to recover the Utica gas, is the end -- that doesn't make any difference to you, because you're only carrying the gas, but to the ratepayer at the other end who is paying for it ultimately, it might mean ultimately higher prices.

MR. LeBLANC:  We certainly are concerned about that, and over time we've seen -- and I think Union talked about it this morning -- some of the sort of best production that they've ever seen, record productions from new wells in the Utica region, would lead me to believe that what is being produced in the Utica should be very competitive with other options going forward.  Based on all the data that we've seen over the last three years, it does appear to be a very competitive and extractable gas.

MR. TOLMIE:  Is there in fact a history that you can draw on for that?

MR. LeBLANC:  There's not a huge amount of history, but I've seen varying -- over time -- and I won't go through it, because it will take maybe more time than we have, but there are a number of different forecasts that I've seen both in the TransCanada 7 slide decks from NEXUS from the Board's own consultant on the natural-gas market review, Navigant, and other reports that I've seen over time.  And every time I see a forecast for Utica it tends to be a more positive forecast of the potential for Utica.  So all indications are it's getting better, not less so.

MR. TOLMIE:  A few years ago, let's say prior to 2012, I gather that your gas basically came from Alberta, from the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin?

MR. LeBLANC:  Predominantly, yes.

MR. TOLMIE:  So is it correct to say that there is now a swing from the use of conventional natural gas to shale gas?

MR. LeBLANC:  Well, the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin is certainly developing shale gas as well, so I wouldn't necessarily say that.  What I would say is -- and what the GTA project and the Parkway West projects were all about was to swing where our gas supply came from to more proximate supplies, including Dawn and NEXUS type supplies and Niagara.

So I would say there has been a swing to more proximate supplies that include shale, but Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin also includes the development of shale.

MR. TOLMIE:  So it sounds to me like no matter where the gas is coming from there is a swing from conventional gas to shale that is Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin or Marcellus gas; is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I guess I would acknowledge that there is -- has been a huge amount of development of shale gas over the last while, and that I think more gas in North America will be supplied from shale going forward and has increased over time.

MR. TOLMIE:  Are the regulations for the shale gas and the enforcement of those regulations the same in Alberta as they are in the Marcellus basin?

MR. LeBLANC:  I'm not familiar with the specific regulations of the two basins, but they are at least regulated by two different regulators:  NEB for Canadian-developed gas and the FERC for U.S.-developed gas.  So I would say -- I'm guessing there's a lot of similarities, but I wouldn't say that they're necessarily exactly the same.

MR. TOLMIE:  To be more specific, it's my understanding that in Alberta gas companies are already required to recover the blow-back gas that comes after -- immediately after they do the fracking process.  And these regulations are not yet enforced in the U.S.  Is that correct?  Or do you think they might be?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. TOLMIE:  One of the points that's been made is that the western Canadian gas is more expensive, and that's attributed to the fact that it has to travel over a longer distance, but perhaps part of that difference [audio dropout] on the difference enforced on regulations; is that right?  Possible?

MR. LeBLANC:  I can't comment specifically on that.  That's possible, but I can't tell you how -- how much truth or, you know, or fiction that there might be in that statement.  I'm not sure.

MR. TOLMIE:  The comment has been made a couple of times that the attraction of moving the shale gas to Ontario is that they get better rates for it here because the price of gas is higher.  Does that put the consumer in Ontario at a double-barrelled disadvantage that he might be paying higher rates than American counterparts and he might be getting gas that is not well-regulated?

MR. LeBLANC:  So one of the things that would make a producer bring gas to Dawn is the Dawn pricing.  The Dawn pricing is more than what they get in the basin.  However, our landed cost analysis and our experience, even of late and since I've been around at least, is that total dollars -- Dawn is almost always, except for some unusual circumstance, is always cheaper than the landed cost of western Canadian gas.

So yes, they're getting more money by coming to Dawn relative to what they're getting in the basin.  But that doesn't mean that ratepayers are paying more because they're getting the gas at Dawn versus from Western Canada, because the landed cost of western Canadian gas including transportation is more than the price of Dawn, and is projected to be.

MR. TOLMIE:  There seems to be some uncertainty about the future demand for natural gas.  If in fact that demand should go down for any reason, would it be possible for us to continue using the conventional natural gas from Alberta as opposed to importing shale gas?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't know the answer to that offhand.  I don't know how much conventional versus shale gas is being developed in Alberta in relation to the demand.  I'm -- so I'm uncertain, I guess; sorry.

MR. TOLMIE:  The total cost of building the pipeline  -- which is not your expense of course, but is being borne by others –- is, I gather, something like 2 billion dollars?

MR. LeBLANC:  So the estimate that underpins the capital cost tracker is 2.019 billion dollars US.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  And I gather that the approval of the Energy Board is significant in terms of whether the NEXUS pipeline might actually go ahead or not, correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think we discussed this earlier.  I believe our participation, which is contingent on an OEB decision that's acceptable to us, is important to the NEXUS project going forward.

MR. TOLMIE:  That being the case, I'm curious as to why NEXUS, Inspector and DTE aren't at the hearing.  Do you know why?

MR. LeBLANC:  I guess we haven't seen the demand for that to date.  I think we in Union are in a pretty good position to speak to the project economics, and the various aspects of the project.  So that wasn't seen as necessary at that time.

MR. TOLMIE:  Let's go on to the prime topic of the whole procedure, the cost consequences.  Whose pocket does the money come out of if costs go up or go down?  Is it the Ratepayer, or the suppliers, or the transmission companies?

MR. LeBLANC:  So I think I discussed, maybe ad nauseam, about the benefits of the project earlier on.  So those are the benefits and if pre-approval is granted, the costs associated with the project would go to the ratepayers as well.

But the benefits are there.  I believe the cost is worth the -- you know, the cost is worth it to get the benefits of the project.

MR. TOLMIE:  Do you equate the ratepayers with the general public?

MR. LeBLANC:  Largely, yes.

MR. TOLMIE:  The Energy Board objectives, in broad terms, are that we make decisions that serve the public interest.  They are quite clearly talking about the public interest and not the interest of either the gas companies, or even the gas companies' customers.  They're talking about the public in general.

Were your evaluations based on that presumption, that you needed to show the benefits for the public in general?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think we have such significant penetration in our markets, both Union and us, that in talking about the value of benefits to ratepayers, we are essentially talking about the public.

We are not saying that every person in Ontario gets gas from one of the two of us, but a huge number of customers and a huge subset of the public is definitely covered by the ratepayers for Ontario by either Union or Enbridge.

I think in our evidence, it's something like 3.6 million customers which is metered.  So however many people on average live in those homes times 3.6 million; it's a very large number.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  If you are looking at the costs that are to be borne by the public in general, there are serious drawbacks to shifting back from conventional natural gas to shale gas, and I'll list a few of them.

One is that there is a substantial amount of radioactivity that comes from the shale gas that is being lost to the environment in general.  Some people talk about it being more than the amount of activity that comes out of the nuclear stations in the US, for example, and twelve times greater than that from Fukushima.

Those are just say numbers, if you like.  But it's a major concern that hasn't been addressed.

MR. LeBLANC:  I think I would answer that by saying our -- these areas are being developed under the rules and regulations of the of the states and jurisdictions to which they're being built, and I think we have to believe that those jurisdictions have the best interests of those who live in the jurisdictions in mind when they created the regulations around the development of shale.

So I rely on that to say that I believe the best interests of those people who are not in Ontario are being looked after by their regulators and the various bodies that govern those things in those areas.

What we're talking about is the pipe to get it here.  So this gas isn't being developed in Ontario.  But recognizing that the gas is being developed, I think we can rely on those regulators as doing what they can to ensure that gas is developed in a responsible manner.

MR. TOLMIE:  I have no problems at all with your arguing that it’s the responsibility of other agencies to be concerned about the safety of developing this particular resource.  But we’re, here what the topic of consideration is the cost, and the cost of industrial processes that damage the environment is in fact borne out of my pocket, the end user of these services and goods.

I think you are not required certainly to make a case for the safety of the facilities, but what we're talking about here is the cost.  If there is a cost to ameliorate the damages caused by radioactivity or by ground water contamination, then those are costs that should be part and parcel of this evaluation, in my view.  Do you have a comment on that?

MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, if I may -- sorry, Mr. Tolmie, this is David Stevens, counsel to Enbridge speaking.

I appreciate these are issues that are top-of-mind for you, and that they may well be things you would like to advance in argument.

But in my submission, I think supported what the Board has said, starting from the first procedural order in this case, I don't think this case is directed at an examination of the attributes of shale gas and whether shale gas ought to be part of our supply mix and how we figure out the societal cost associated with shale gas and questions of like.  I think the issue before us is much more narrow as to whether this contract qualifies under the pre-approval guidelines, taking into account the benefits of the contract, the risks of the contract, whether the risks are mitigated, and whether the overall cost of gas supply, which is what ratepayers are paying, is reasonable.

And so with respect, I think the further we get into these sort of more philosophical questions of what is the full societal cost of a particular resource, the further away we're getting from what's really at issue and what's going to inform the Board's decision in this case.

So with that I would respectfully suggest that perhaps we could move on to other issues that are more germane to what must be determined in this case.

MR. TOLMIE:  I think in this case it's perfectly fair to consider the cost for developing this particular resource.  There is a cost associated with changing conventional natural gas that we're getting from the west to another source that in fact will take an awful lot more money out of our pockets in order to handle the direct consequences of developing this resource, this particular facility.

I'll give you another example --

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Tolmie, can I -- this is Cathy Spoel, Panel Chair.  I think that you are more than welcome to advance your argument on these points in argument, which we will read and consider with interest.  I think that in terms of getting -- extracting answers on these questions from these witnesses, you're probably not going to make a lot of headway, and I think one of the things to recognize in this proceeding is that we're actually not here to determine whether or not Union or Enbridge is allowed to have this contract.  We're here to determine whether or not the ratepayers are going to pay for it through a guarantee, the contracts that they're entering into.  They could actually enter into these contracts without our approval at all.

So what we have to determine here is really whether these costs are reasonable to pre-approve, but they can and often do enter into contracts for transportation without our pre-approval, so -- and we don't get into that discussion.

So really, it is quite -- it is actually quite a narrow issue here, and we're not going to say, no, they can't do this, and, no, the pipeline can't be built.  We're not here to approve the pipeline.  We're here only to consider whether or not ratepayers will be -- well, whether we will pre-approve the costs which normally we would only approve after the fact.

So that's the narrow scope that we're dealing with.  So I think that the issues which I think are interesting, as Mr. Stevens says, the issue is about the impact of developing shale gas and so on is of interest, but it is actually not within our mandate in this specific hearing, which is about pre-approval, or not, of these specific contracts, and not whether or not the pipeline can be built or whether or not they are allowed to contract for capacity on it.

So if there are other issues that you would like to ask specific questions of the Enbridge witnesses with relation to those, that would be great.  Otherwise, as I said, we would be happy to consider your views in your -- in argument, which you'll be free to submit.

MR. TOLMIE:  I was trying to be as specific as possible in trying to get an answer to how much it will cost us to utilize this, so I'll pass that, and we can cover that in argument or in other venues --

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Well, I think you can raise that question.  I mean, I think as a philosophical thing you can raise the issue that the externalities and societal costs have not been accounted for.  I think that's -- you can perfectly well raise that in argument.

Mr. -- sorry, I've gone blank.  Mr. LeBlanc is not the person who is going to be able to answer those questions.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Let's go on then to the primary advantages of building the NEXUS pipeline.  As I understand it, it's possible that the cost of gas produced in the Utica deposit and delivered to Ontario might be a little higher than that coming from other sources via the Dawn line?  The Dawn hub, rather?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, and I think I explained that's based on depending on the forecast that you take.  But I think I explained that we believe that a diversified portfolio which includes various supplies is more -- is important and that cost-competitiveness in relation to other supplies is what's important to take from those landed cost analysis.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  The period of this agreement will run to 2032; is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. TOLMIE:  How long do you expect to be in fact generating natural gas?  There have been many politicians that have claimed that by that time we should have phased out fossil fuels.  Do you expect it to go on forever?

MR. LeBLANC:  I would -- I think I covered the point earlier on that there remains a great deal of flexibility at our supply portfolio to allow for any even large-scale reduction in the amount of gas supply that will be required for our customers over the next 15 years.

MR. TOLMIE:  So I gather you're not prepared or able to project beyond that?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think the period of issue here is the next 15 years.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  I think I'll leave it there in terms of my questions.  I'm sorry if I -- I tend to be obstreperous.  But this is my nature.  Thank you very much.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Tolmie.  We appreciate your participation.

I gather, Ms. Alexander, that you've rejiggled the schedule and you're planning to go next?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Alexander:

MS. ALEXANDER:  Yes, we've -- Mr. Brett and myself have decided to switch, only because partially Board Staff has done such a very thorough run-through in their examination that I am left with two very pointed questions, and then I shall depart to get on my plane, so...

I just want to retrace, if you can hear me, very briefly the comments that you made regarding the benefits of the project.  And just to understand very clearly what you meant by that.

So I believe that you stated that all of the benefits to the project accrue to the ratepayers.  And that therefore all of the costs therefore should also be covered by them, sort of in summary was the point that you made?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think that's fair.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And I believe that you noted that Enbridge Gas Distribution doesn't have any benefits from the project?  Is that correct?  Or...

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, gas supply is passed on to ratepayers with no markup or no benefit for the utility.

MS. ALEXANDER:  But I just want to be clear that, you know, the shareholders would not approve you proceeding with the project if there were no benefits to Enbridge?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think that's maybe almost precisely why we're here.  We're looking for pre-approval, because the shareholder is not willing to take the risk of the costs without some indicator that the Board is going to approve the costs.  And so pre-approval would allow us to move forward.  Otherwise we would not -- I think we've been clear on that.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Sorry.  Is it your evidence, then, with pre-approval, Enbridge reaps benefits from the project but without, it does not?

MR. LeBLANC:  No, with pre-approval Enbridge gains assurances that the costs of -- the very large costs of this contract will be borne by the ratepayer.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  I'll leave it at that.  Thank you.

MR. LeBLANC:  Sure.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And secondly, which is connected, I just want to review some of the risks that you present in your evidence, and I went through this briefly with Union as well.  And I believe it's at page 35 of your evidence, which is page 44 of the PDF, where you walk through, as Union has done in their evidence, the risks associated with the project and the manner in which you understand that those risks are mitigated.

MR. LeBLANC:  I have that.  Page 36, did you say?

MS. ALEXANDER:  I think I said 35.

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, it starts at 35.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So I want to review it -- when you said earlier that the risks would be transferred to the ratepayers of the project, are you then referring to these risks that you've outlined here in your evidence?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think I said the costs would be transferred to the ratepayers, and I think the whole point of the pre-approval process -- or one of the points of the pre-approval process is to delve into the risks and look at what we've done to try and help mitigate those risks to the extent possible, to protect the ratepayers.

And I think through our contract, through what we know about the project, we have to a large extent mitigated the risks for ratepayers.

MS. ALEXANDER:  To back up a bit, to the extent that given pre-approval for the costs, the risk is transferred to ratepayers, are those risks the ones that you're discussing in your evidence here?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, I think these are the risks that could potentially impact the ratepayers, and we've addressed them and discussed how they are mitigated to the extent possible.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So then just for the record, those are the forecasting risks -- and I'm just going through the list here that you have – the construction and operational risks, the commercial risks.  You also do list regulatory risks; do you consider that those are risks to the ratepayers as well?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think what we've discussed under regulatory risk are things like the risk that the project won't get regulatory approval, won't go forward, and we have the right to terminate without any costs.  The risks of significant changes in law, those were the regulatory risks that we identified specifically in our evidence.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And so just to answer my question, do those apply to the ratepayers, in your opinion?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  And lastly, in your understanding, have you reviewed the evidence of Union in regard to their risks and mitigation, the mitigation managers that they understand have been done?

MR. LeBLANC:  I certainly have read them.  I'm not the one to speak to them, but I've certainly read them.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Just to the extent that you can speak to them, do you think Enbridge has identified any risks that are different from Union's?

MR. LeBLANC:  I can't recall offhand.  I haven't read their submission in a while.

MS. ALEXANDER:  That's fair.  All right.  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Ms. Alexander.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Brett, do you want to get started this afternoon or would it be -- it's already 4:30 and we're running a little bit ahead of schedule.  So if you would prefer not to start until tomorrow morning, I think we can accommodate that.  If you want to take --


MR. BRETT:  I could take a few minutes and maybe get into a couple of issues.  But I won’t -– may be another ten minutes or so.

MS. SPOEL:  That would be fine, and I do want to take a few minutes after that to talk about argument.  So if you want to go for ten or fifteen minutes, and we'll have a few minutes left.  We do have to be gone by five o’clock.

MR. BRETT:  I'll start maybe one issue, and perhaps two.  The first is a fairly straightforward one, insofar as any of these things are straightforward.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


If you turn up page 6 of the joint proposal of Union and Enbridge, it has a map on there that shows the NEXUS pipeline.

MR. LeBLANC:  Which pages did you say?

MR. BRETT:  Page 6.

MR. LeBLANC:  I have it.

MR. BRETT:  I'm still looking for it.  Do we have that on the screen?

MR. LeBLANC:  This is a part of the compendium.

MR. BRETT:  Here we go, all right.  We had it.  I think if you go back a bit -- right there.

MR. LeBLANC:  That's it.

MR. BRETT:  This one, okay.  I take it the NEXUS pipeline is the orange line which goes from Kensington to Willow Run; is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's the greenfield portion of the NEXUS project.

MR. BRETT:  That’s the greenfield portion of the NEXUS pipeline?

MR. LeBLANC:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  But then, as I understand it, you have contracted -- if we look at the line between Willow Run and Milford, and Milford is an intersection with Vector, as I understand it, you've also contracted with DTE for that piece?  You mentioned a 5 cent toll a little earlier at the beginning of your conversation with Mister -- I'm sorry, I apologize.  Ian?

MR. RICHLER:  Richler.

MR. BRETT:  Is that part of your proposal or not?  Let me put it another way.  Is that your 63 cents -- your framing of the NEXUS proposal from your point of view I thought was the orange line from Kensington to Willow Run; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Our contract with NEXUS, that's what you want me to define?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, we can start there, yes.

MR. LeBLANC:  I guess is both Kensington to Willow Run and then from Willow Run to Milford.  So the contract we signed for 70 cents US includes Kensington to Milford.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  But you mentioned -- in your discussions earlier, you talked about a 5 cent or 6 cent tariff from Willow Run to Milford.  What is that?  That's a tariff that NEXUS is paying to DTE?

In other words –- well, let me put it another way.  There is an existing line from Willow Run to Milford, correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  An existing pipeline.

MR. LeBLANC:  There is existing infrastructure there.

MR. BRETT:  Which is Michcon or DTE?

MR. LeBLANC:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, now that line, NEXUS is going to use that line.

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Let me try and make this a little clearer.  What I'm trying to get clearly is how much of this whole path of yours from Kensington to MichCon is greenfield pipe, and how much is the use of an existing pipe or pipes.

And maybe the way to put it -- the best way to put it is can you give me the relative distances, the distance from Kensington to Willow Run, which I understand is greenfield, and the distance from Willow Run to Milford and Milford over to Dawn, which I understand is the use of existing pipelines, correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  I can only give you the distances -- the distance of the Greenfield, which is approximately 400 kilometres.

What I was talking to Mr. Richler earlier about was the rate, and the 70 cents is -- 65 cents of the 70 cent toll is related to the greenfield portion of the pipe, so Kensington to Willow Run, and the remaining 5 cents of the toll is to cover transportation by others agreement that NEXUS has with DTE to get from Willow Run to Milford.

MR. BRETT:  Could you get me the distances?  Could you make an undertaking to provide the distance of the greenfield pipe to Willow Run versus the use of the existing pipe, which is not just from Willow Run to Milford, but is also from Milford to Dawn?

It looks to me, looking at this map, that it's a ratio of about four to six, that about 60 percent is greenfield, but I'm just looking at this map and hoping it's to scale.  I may be a bit off, but I'm not going to be much off.  So I would just like confirmation of those numbers, the distances, please.  Can you undertake to do that?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  I don't see this is problematic thing.  You --

MR. LeBLANC:  No --

MS. SPOEL:  Let him answer.

MR. LeBLANC:  Well, I guess --

MS. SPOEL:  He --

MR. LeBLANC:  -- I think we can undertake to do it.  I just -- there may be a difference -- do you want the distance -- the length of the pipe or the distance between the points?  Because they may be a little different.  Pipelines are not straight line.  But --

MR. BRETT:  I don't want the straight line, no.  To answer your question, I want the length of the pipe.

MR. LeBLANC:  And I'm not sure -- and we can check it out, and we certainly -- we'll do our best, but the flow-through -- although we've sort of shown the flow from Willow Run to Milford as a straight line, one pipe, the DTE system is a series of pipes, and the gas doesn't necessarily flow a specific path, so that might be a little complicated, but we will do our best.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  And, I mean, you -- and you can give me Milford to Dawn as well.

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J2.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  ENBRIDGE to provide the distance of the greenfield pipe to Willow Run versus the use of the existing pipe, which is not just from Willow Run to Milford, but is also from Milford to Dawn.



MR. BRETT:  Thank you very much.

Now, I'll ask you -- I want to ask you a few questions about Vector and how Vector fits into this.  And first off, as I think you mentioned to -- earlier in the discussion, Enbridge Inc. owns 60 percent of Vector, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  So you have a majority ownership of that pipeline, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Enbridge Inc. does, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Enbridge Inc. does, yeah.

Now, I'm looking at -- basically I'm going to jump off here from Undertaking J2.4, which is from the second day of the technical conference, and this is the -- this talks about this restructuring proposal that we talked about a bit earlier.  And I just have a -- I just want to make sure I understand how this is working.

And I -- can you tell me first of all what is the overall capacity of the Vector pipeline?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think we've discussed this already in evidence, so subject to check, currently it's 1.6 BCF, and I think it will increase to 1.9 BCF as a result of these -- over in NEXUS if they're built.

MR. BRETT:  So there is some construction going to be done to increase the capacity of it?

MR. LeBLANC:  I don't understand the engineering details of it, but my understanding is just the connection of this higher-pressure gas from these other pipes will increase the capability of the Vector pipe to move gas to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And Enbridge currently has 175,000 dekatherm per day on Vector, and that is from Joliet, which I guess is Chicago, right, to Dawn.  It says here on the first paragraph of this May 7th letter, which is attachment 1 to J2.4, JT2.4, says you have two contracts, 79,000 per day and 96,000 per day from Chicago to Dawn.  Is that still the case?

MR. LeBLANC:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And --

MR. LeBLANC:  I think we actually -- just to hopefully be helpful, Staff Interrogatory No. 12 --

MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry?

MR. LeBLANC:  Staff Interrogatory No. 12, so --

MR. BRETT:  Yes?

MR. LeBLANC:  -- Exhibit 1.T2.EGDI.Staff.12 --

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LeBLANC:  -- discusses that, and it actually shows that the amount of capacity we will have on Vector is unchanged with or without NEXUS, the difference being capacity on Vector should NEXUS not go forward will be for the full path rather than the path from Milford to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I think I understand that.  At the moment the 100 -- the 79,000 plus the 96,000 are from Chicago to Dawn.

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And there is no other capacity -- shorter capacity held by Enbridge on Vector at the moment, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the -- now, there was some talk earlier about -- either I read or I heard about some decontracting on Vector.  Has Enbridge -- I gather Enbridge is decontracting some of its, I'll call long-haul for want of a better word on Vector; is that correct?

MR. LeBLANC:  Enbridge, yes, made a decision a couple years ago -- I believe in interrogatories we do talk about it -- a couple years ago to decontract a portion of its Vector capacity not directly related but largely related to its decontracting on the Alliance pipeline, so --

MR. BRETT:  When is that happening, that decontracting?

MR. LeBLANC:  November 1 of 2015.

MR. BRETT:  '15?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  The same time as Alliance is being decontracted.  Is that the 25,000 on Alliance?

MR. LeBLANC:  No, it's more than that.  It's -- I can't recall the exact amount, but it's in the 75-, 80,000 a day range.

MR. BRETT:  So that's the amount then that would be -- that Enbridge would be decontracting on Vector effective November 1st of this year?

MR. LeBLANC:  That's correct.  That decision was made several years ago in order to free up some flexibility in our portfolio for potential new supplies.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that would leave you somewhere around, say, 90,000 on Vector; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  No, we will have 175,000 dekatherms, which is 184,000, roughly, gigajoules a day of capacity on Vector after November 1st.

MR. BRETT:  I should have said from Chicago to Dawn.  You're going to have less Chicago to Dawn capacity, right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes, previously we had approximately 290,000.  I'm going to get mixed up on units.  But it's relatively the same.  Previously we had about 290,000 units.  Now we have 175,000 units --

MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see --

MR. LeBLANC:  -- from --

MR. BRETT:  -- 175 is what you have after you decontracted?

MR. LeBLANC:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you've already decontracted?  Or  you --

MR. LeBLANC:  Yes.  We had to give notice a couple years ago.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I'll just stop after a couple -- one more -- a couple more questions here.

As I understand it, what you're going to do in the restructuring, you're going to take -- you're going to take the 100,000 -- you require 100,000 capacity on Milford over to Dawn, approximately; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  110,000 --

MR. BRETT:  110,000.

MR. LeBLANC:  -- dekatherms.

MR. BRETT:  And you will have how much then remaining from Chicago to Dawn?

MR. LeBLANC:  65,000 dekatherms a day.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, you say that the toll on the 100,000 from Milford to Dawn is going to be 18 cents; is that right?  Or 16 cents?  I'm sorry.

MR. LeBLANC:  The total on the 110,000 from Milford to Dawn will be 16 cents.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And the toll on the Chicago to Dawn is 18 cents; is that right?

MR. LeBLANC:  Assuming we choose all the options available in the restructuring, yes.

MR. BRETT:  My question is, how is it -- let me ask one other question.  The distance from Milford to Dawn looks to me to be, if we turn over and look at the next map that you filed -- or I guess it's the map on the previous page which shows all the pipelines -- yes, this one.  And this isn't exactly the best one, but I guess it's good enough.

It shows that the distance from Milford to Dawn is maybe 20 percent or 25 percent of the total distance from Chicago to Dawn.  Fair enough?  Roughly?

MR. LeBLANC:  Something like that, yeah.

MR. BRETT:  And why is the toll then only two cents higher?  That's what I don't understand.  Why are you charging 18 cents -- why are you charging almost as much to go to Joliet from Chicago to Dawn as from Willow -- as well as from Willow Bay to Dawn?  What -- that doesn't seem -- I don't understand that.  Why is that?

MR. LeBLANC:  I think you probably have to talk to Vector to understand what went into their setting the toll, but I do know that the 16 cents is the same -- or in the same -- I think it's the same as everybody else that contracted from the Milford to Dawn path.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LeBLANC:  So -- and others have contracted for it, so I guess that's an indicator that it was the market value of that path, since the market did contract for it.

MR. BRETT:  And are there others that are paying that same -- as -- you're saying that there are other parties that pay that 18 cents, or...

MR. LeBLANC:  16 -- the --

MR. BRETT:  16 cents?

MR. LeBLANC:  -- 16 cents.  I understand that -- I am not privy to the specifics of the contract between NEXUS and Vector, but I understand that that is the same toll based on my discussions with them.  So the 500,000 a day additional capacity that's taken the same path as us is paying the same toll on Vector as we are.

MR. BRETT:  It looks to the uninitiated that it's a very high toll relative to the Chicago to Dawn toll.  You're saying that's just a quirk, or...

MR. LeBLANC:  It’s still probably good value versus building a new pipeline for that path.  I can only imagine the replacement cost would have been one of the factors considered in setting that toll.  But as I said, I am not aware of what went into setting that toll.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  We'll deal with cross-examination tomorrow morning, or are you done -- or you're not done?

MR. BRETT:  I have more questions.

MS. SPOEL:  So we’ll continue tomorrow morning.

Before we break today, I just wanted to discuss -- not discuss, but I wanted to deal with the issue of argument.

I understand there has been some discussions with Mr. Millar, with Mr. Stevens, and Mr. Keizer at least, and that the proposal would be for Enbridge and Union to file written argument-in-chief on Wednesday, assuming we finish all the evidence tomorrow.

We have a day, a half a day on December 2nd when we can hear things orally.  So we thought the best approach might be to have the intervenors and Board Staff file written argument by Friday the 27th, which is a week Friday.  And then we can use that time on the second for reply argument from Enbridge and Union, which would give four days to prepare your oral reply argument.

MR. STEVENS:  We're of course in your hands.  I think as we talked about it and considered it, we were hopeful -- given the number of intervenors participating, we were hopeful of having a week to be able digest and compile responses to the various items that may be raised, and we would be concerned as to whether effectively two business days, assuming argument doesn't come in until end of day Friday, doesn't give us much time for that.

MS. SPOEL:  We're trying to balance everybody's needs.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Madam Chair, something else we discussed – and we are in the Board's hands as to how important oral reply is.  But if oral reply is less important or isn't critical, it might be possible for written reply by the Friday of the week of the second.

MS. SPOEL:  As a practical matter, if you do written reply argument, there is not a chance you'll get a decision before Christmas, because it will take us a lot more time to review written reply argument.  We can't ask questions about it, it will take us more time, and we won't be able to get a decision -- our experience is we won't be able to get a decision –- possibly a decision done before the end of the year.

So the best hope you have -- and we’re not guaranteeing when we're going to have a decision.  But there is not a chance, if we don't get this done by December 2nd when we do have some time, but there’s no chance you'll get a decision before that.

So maybe think about it overnight.

MR. KEIZER:  I can say that from Union's position, that they would want, if you are able to, provide that decision before Christmas.

So to the extent we are to provide oral argument to facilitate that, then Union would be prepared to file our argument.

But I would ask, though -- it would be helpful, although I understand that the intervenors would like as much time as possible, that if we could adjust the intervenors submission date, that would be helpful.

MS. SPOEL:  We haven't heard submissions from the intervenors.  Maybe they're all fine with having a week, in which case that would be great.

So maybe we can talk about it a bit off-line.  We understand your concerns, and obviously trying to get this moved along as quickly as possible.

MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MS. SPOEL:  But being fair to everybody.

MR. KEIZER:  Appreciate it.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Any other matters before we adjourn today?  In which case, we'll see everybody tomorrow morning.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:48 p.m.
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